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Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis

Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Yugang International Limited (the “Company”), I 
am pleased to present the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended  
31 December 2016.

REVIEW OF RESULTS
The Group recorded a consolidated profit of HK$21.8 million attributable to shareholders for the year ended 31 December 2016, 
representing a significant decrease of 86.5% over the last corresponding year. It was mainly attributable to an unrealized fair value 
loss of HK$35.4 million on listed equity investments as compared to an unrealized fair value gain of HK$26.1 million in the last 
corresponding year and a decrease in the share of profit of an associate by an amount of HK$60.8 million for the year as a result 
of the associate’s disposal of its investment properties in Hong Kong on 29 February 2016.

The basic earnings per share for the year was HK0.23 cents, whereas basic earnings of HK1.74 cents was recorded for the last 
corresponding year.

FINAL DIVIDEND
The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.002 per share for the year ended 31 December 
2016 (2015: HK$0.004 per share) to holders of ordinary shares of the Company (the “Shares”) whose names appear on the 
register of members of the Company on 29 May 2017. No interim dividend was declared for the financial year of 2016 and 2015. 
Subject to shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be held on Thursday, 18 May 
2017 (the “AGM”), the proposed final dividend will be paid to shareholders on or about 6 June 2017.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
The register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday, 15 May 2017 to Thursday, 18 May 2017, both days 
inclusive, during which period no transfer of Shares will be registered for the purpose of determining shareholders’ entitlement to 
attend and vote at the AGM. In order to qualify for attending and voting at the AGM, all transfer documents accompanied by the 
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar, Tricor Tengis Limited at Level 
22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 12 May 2017.

RECORD DATE FOR PROPOSED FINAL DIVIDEND
The record date for the purpose of determining shareholders’ entitlement to the proposed final dividend is Monday, 29 May 2017. 
The register of members of the Company will also be closed from Thursday, 25 May 2017 to Monday, 29 May 2017, both days 
inclusive, during which period no transfer of Shares will be registered. In order to qualify for the entitlement of the proposed final 
dividend payable on Tuesday, 6 June 2017, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged 
for registration with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar, Tricor Tengis Limited at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 24 May 2017.

BUSINESS REVIEW
In 2016, Hong Kong economy recorded the slowest pace of growth since the global financial crisis. The external environment 
remained weak against the subdued global economic backdrop. The exports of goods and services recorded notable decline 
with sluggish external trade performance. The number of visitors and their per capita spending were continuously declined. 
Furthermore, the momentum of economic growth in Mainland China remained sluggish as a result of the implementation of 
economic reforms including deleveraging, cutting industrial overcapacity, destocking and supply-side reform during the year.
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The financial market in Hong Kong was highly volatile during the year given anemic economic growth and elevated uncertainties. 
Investors were continuously spooked by a number of negative factors such as depreciation of Renminbi and surge of capital 
outflows from China, rout of A-shares market after launching of Circuit Breaker, market fear of economic hard-landing in China 
and the implementation of a new round cooling measures on the local property market. In addition, external factors including 
Brexit referendum and its repercussion on global economy, inception of U.S. interest rate hike cycle and Donald Trump’s 
presidency all increased the volatility of the financial market.

Property and Infrastructure Investment Business

Property Investment Business
The Group principally carries on its property investment business through Y. T. Realty Group Limited (“Y. T. Realty”), an 
associate of the Group and the shares of which are traded on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited 
(the “Stock Exchange”). During the year under review, Y. T. Realty has changed its investment strategy by focusing on prime 
properties in established overseas markets and at the same time reducing its exposure to Hong Kong property market. On  
29 February 2016, Y. T. Realty completed the disposal of 100% interest in both Century Square and Prestige Tower and at the 
same time increased its interest in a prime commercial property, 1 Chapel Place in London, United Kingdom (the “London 
Property”) to 100% through acquiring the remaining 50% interest from its joint venture partner. Details of the transaction were 
set out in the circular of Y. T. Realty dated 29 January 2016.

On 18 July 2016, Y. T. Realty directly and indirectly completed an acquisition of all the issued units in a property unit trust, Grove 
Property Unit Trust 4, which owns a prime hotel property located at 1 Harrow Place and 11 White Kennett Street, London, United 
Kingdom (the “London Hotel”), detailed information was set out in the announcement of Y. T. Realty dated 19 July 2016.

As a result, the gross rental income of Y. T. Realty for the year was HK$64.9 million, representing a significant decrease of 
HK$145.1 million from the last corresponding year. The London Property is located in the prime central London business location 
and the leasing demand for office and retail is generally stable and strong. During the year under review, the rental income from 
London Property was approximately HK$19.3 million and occupancy rate of which was 100% throughout the year. The London 
Hotel is located in a convenient location in Central London operating as the Travelodge London Central – Liverpool Street Hotel 
and has been leased to Travelodge Hotels for a term of 35 years from 26 April 2007 under an investment lease. The leasing 
demand for the London Hotel is generally stable and strong. During the year under review, the rental income from London Hotel 
for Y. T. Realty was approximately HK$9.3 million.

As at the end of the year, the value of investment properties of Y. T. Realty including London Property and London Hotel were 
revalued to approximately HK$1,093.1 million by an independent professional valuer. There was an overall fair value gain of 
approximately HK$55.3 million recorded for the year (2015: HK$137.1 million). The profit after tax of Y. T. Realty for the year 
was HK$356.1 million, representing a decrease of HK$178.3 million from the last corresponding year.

Infrastructure Investment Business
The infrastructure business of the Group comprises investments in tunnels, transports and logistic operations. It was carried on 
through The Cross-Harbour (Holdings) Limited (“Cross-Harbour”), being an associate of Y. T. Realty up to November 2016, 
the shares of which are traded on the main board of the Stock Exchange. Cross-Harbour currently holds 50% and 39.5% equity 
interests in Western Harbour Tunnel Company Limited and Tate’s Cairn Tunnel Company Limited respectively, both of which 
generate a stable stream of toll income.

The GDP growth of Hong Kong slowed down in 2016. The private consumption however remained strong given a low 
unemployment rate, a moderate increase in wages and income, and soaring of property price. The transport and tunnel operations 
of Cross-Harbour continued to grow steadily for the year.
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The profit after tax and non-controlling interests of Cross-Harbour for the year was HK$410.4 million, representing a decrease of 
HK$209.4 million or 33.8% from the last corresponding year. It was mainly attributable to a significant loss in the performance of 
its treasury investment due to a significant fair value loss on its securities investment for the year as compared to a fair value gain 
recorded in the last corresponding year.

On 14 November 2016, shareholders of Y. T. Realty had, in a special general meeting, approved the payment of a special dividend 
by way of distribution in specie of all the shares of Cross-Harbour held by Y. T. Realty to its shareholders. As a result, Y. T. 
Realty ceased to hold any interest in Cross-Harbour and thereby the Group has ceased to benefit from any profit contributions 
from the infrastructure investment business since December 2016.

Treasury Management Business
The fluctuation of Hong Kong stock market remained vigorous during the year. The performance of Hong Kong stock market 
was overall dragged by the economic slowdown of China with most of its economic indicators showing a trend of slowdown in 
the first half of the year. Even worse, the fear of hard-landing in China’s economy has led to the devaluation of Renminbi and 
capital outflow from China. Local stock market became more volatile and investor’s confidence had been dampened by worsening 
external environment such as Brexit referendum and U.S. president election.

The performance of treasury management segment of the Group receded as the Group’s listed equity investments recorded an 
unrealized fair value loss of HK$35.4 million for the year whereas a fair value gain of HK$26.1 million was recorded in the last 
corresponding year. The Group did not dispose of any listed equity investments during the year (2015: gain of HK$13.3 million 
on disposal of listed equity investments).

Property Leasing Business
In addition to the property investment business of Y. T. Realty focusing on oversea prime properties, the Group has gradually 
diversified its business into the property leasing business in Hong Kong to earn rental income. During the year, the leasehold 
properties held by the Group had been leased out and been transferred and re-classified to investment properties. As a result, the 
value of investment properties held by the Group was revalued to HK$125.6 million by an independent professional valuer as at 
31 December 2016. A fair value gain of HK$1.1 million on the revaluation of investment properties was recorded for the year (2015: 
HK$1.0 million). The rental income from investment properties for the year was HK$1.4 million (2015: HK$1.5 million).

OUTLOOK AND STRATEGY
Looking forward, the Group holds a cautious view towards the global economy for 2017. After Donald Trump won the U.S. 
presidential election in November 2016, the market has worried about the possibilities of trade de-globalization and imposition of 
tariff on imported goods between the U.S. and China which might be harmful to the global economy. The global financial market 
and international capital flow will be heavily influenced by the uncertainties of the new U.S. policies. In addition, the global 
financial markets are still hindered by various uncertainties particularly the fastening pace of U.S. interest rate hike in 2017, the 
rise in global inflationary pressure due to increase in commodity price and geopolitical risks for the three elections in Netherlands, 
France and Germany in 2017 which all may elevate the volatility of financial markets.

On the other hand, the economic performance of China has been stabilizing with most of its economic indicators such as PMI and 
PPI rebounded since the end of 2016. Investor’s confidence has gradually restored and the stock market sentiment has gradually 
improved since February 2017. In addition, following the commencement of Shenzhen-Hong Kong Stock Connect in December 
2016, the market is expecting more inflow of China funds to Hong Kong stock market and hence Hong Kong stock market may be 
benefited in the interim or long term.

The Group has maintained its long-sustained strategy of focusing on strategic expansion and diversification of business which has 
been proved successful in enhancing the Group’s investment objective of long-term growth and provided a solid foundation for 
the Group’s generation of profit in long term. In addition, the Group will also strive to maintain a prudent approach in pursuing a 
long-term strategic growth that give the Group sound financial and management capabilities.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue
The revenue of the Group was HK$30.1 million for the year, representing a decrease of HK$4.9 million from the last 
corresponding year. It was mainly attributable to the gain of HK$13.3 million on disposal of listed equity investments in the last 
corresponding year whereas there was no disposal of listed equity investments during the year.

Other Comprehensive Income
The Group recorded other comprehensive loss of HK$57.9 million for the year (2015: other comprehensive income of HK$302.9 
million). It was mainly attributable to a fair value loss of HK$41.7 million (2015: fair value gain of HK$278.6 million) on an 
available-for-sale investment of the Group and share of other comprehensive loss of an associate for HK$65.5 million (2015: share 
of other comprehensive income of HK$24.3 million). In addition, a fair value gain of HK$49.2 million had been taken to a reserve 
account which was arisen from revaluation of leasehold properties by transferring from owner-occupied properties to investment 
properties during the year.

Net Asset Value
As at 31 December 2016, the consolidated net asset value of the Group was HK$2,791.4 million (2015: HK$3,076.6 million), 
representing a decrease of 9.3% from the last corresponding year. The consolidated net asset value per share of the Group was 
HK$0.30 (2015: HK$0.33). The Group’s total assets and total liabilities were HK$2,849.0 million (2015: HK$3,168.1 million) 
and HK$57.6 million (2015: HK$91.5 million) respectively.

Capital Structure
The Group’s capital expenditure and investments were mainly funded from cash on hand, internally-generated funds and bank 
borrowings.

The Group consistently adopts conservative treasury policies in cash and financial management. Cash is generally placed in short-
term deposits mostly denominated in U.S. dollars and Hong Kong dollars. The Group does not use any financial instruments for 
hedging purpose.

Liquidity and Financial Resources
The Group’s cash and cash equivalents, being mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars, was HK$630.2 million as at  
31 December 2016 (2015: HK$38.8 million). The cash and cash equivalents and the listed equity investments in aggregate were 
HK$1,627.1 million as at 31 December 2016 (2015: HK$111.2 million). The liquidity of the Group was very strong with a current 
ratio of 35.8 as at 31 December 2016 (2015: 2.8).

The bank borrowing of the Group as at 31 December 2016 was HK$22.5 million (2015: HK$67.0 million). The bank loan, being 
a term loan repayable within five years and subject to a normal and general term of repayment on demand clause after 31 January 
2018 (2015: after 31 January 2017), was interest-bearing at a variable rate based on Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate and 
denominated in Hong Kong dollars.
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The maturity profile of the Group’s bank borrowing as at 31 December 2016 was set out as follows:

HK$

Due within one year or on demand 15,000,000
Due more than one year but not exceeding two years 7,500,000

 
Total 22,500,000

 

The Group had available short-term revolving banking facilities of approximately HK$150.0 million as at 31 December 2016 
(2015: HK$150.0 million). None of them were utilized as at 31 December 2016 (2015: HK$30.0 million).

Exposure to Fluctuation in Exchange Rates and Related Hedges
As the Group’s major source of income, expenses, major assets and bank deposits were denominated in Hong Kong dollars and U.S. 
dollars, the Group’s exposure to fluctuation in foreign exchange rates was minimal due to the pegged exchange rate. The Group 
did not have any related hedging instruments.

Gearing Ratio
As at 31 December 2016, the gearing ratio of the Group, as measured by dividing the net debt to shareholders’ equity, was 
inapplicable as it became negative when cash and cash equivalents could entirely cover the total debt (2015: 1.6%). Net debt was 
calculated as bank borrowings plus other payables and accruals, net of cash and cash equivalents.

Contingent Liabilities
The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2016 (2015: Nil).

Charges on Group Assets
As at 31 December 2016, the Group pledged its investment properties with an aggregate carrying value of approximately 
HK$109.3 million as securities for general banking facilities granted to the Group (2015: leasehold and investment properties with 
an aggregate carrying value of HK$70.3 million).

Principal Risks and Uncertainties
The principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group include the risks pertaining to the property investment and leasing business 
and the equity price risk relating to the treasury management business.

The property investment and leasing business are affected by a number of factors, including the changes in economic environment 
and the implementation of economic, fiscal, monetary and housing policies in Hong Kong and United Kingdom, the exchange rate 
fluctuation of sterling pound etc. It is also susceptible to changes in consumer confidence and consumption spending of consumers 
in Hong Kong and United Kingdom as well as Mainland visitors.

The equity price risk facing the treasury management business is the price volatility of the listed equity investments. It can be 
affected by various macroeconomic factors such as interest rate and foreign exchange rate fluctuation, changes in commodity and 
crude oil prices, and other geopolitical factors.
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Significant Investments Held, Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries, and Future Plans for 

Material Investments or Capital Assets

The Group holds two significant investments which are investment in an associate and available-for-sale investment.

The Group held a substantial equity interest in Y. T. Realty which was classified as an investment in an associate. The carrying 
value of the Group’s investment in Y. T. Realty was substantially reduced to HK$497.3 million as at 31 December 2016 (2015: 
HK$2,258.7 million) after the distribution of a special cash dividend of HK$3.8 per share and a special dividend by way of 
distribution in specie of all the shares in Cross-Harbour held by Y. T. Realty during the year. The profit after tax of Y. T. Realty 
for the year was HK$356.1 million and the Group’s share of profit of an associate was HK$121.6 million (2015: HK$182.4 
million). Detailed discussion about the performance of Y. T. Realty for the year is contained in the section of Business Review.

The Group held an equity interest in C C Land Holdings Limited (“C C Land”, the shares of which are listed on the main board 
of the Stock Exchange) which was classified as an available-for-sale investment. The carrying value of C C Land was stated 
in fair value of HK$588.5 million as at 31 December 2016 (2015: HK$630.2 million) and a fair value loss of HK$41.7 million 
was recorded in a reserve account and recognized as other comprehensive loss in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. The Group received final dividend income of HK$14.3 million (2015: HK$13.0 million) from C C Land during the year.

As at 31 December 2016, the Group maintained a diversified portfolio of listed equity investments at fair value through profit or 
loss with a carrying value of HK$996.9 million, representing a substantial increase of HK$924.5 million from the last year. The 
increase was mainly attributable to the shares of Cross-Harbour distributed  by Y. T. Realty through a special dividend by way of 
distribution in specie in November 2016, with a carrying value of HK$593.7 million as at 31 December 2016 and accounting for 
approximately 60% of the aggregate carrying value of the portfolio. Detailed discussion about the performance of Cross-Harbour 
is contained in the section of Business Review. In addition, the Group had purchased other listed equity investments at fair value 
through profit or loss of approximately HK$391.6 million during the year, including IPO share subscription of China Resources 
Pharmaceutical Group Limited (stock code: 03320), with a carrying value of approximately HK$218.8 million as at 31 December 
2016 and accounting for approximately 22% of the aggregate carrying value of the portfolio. Balance of the portfolio comprised 
equity investments in 17 listed companies. Due to volatility of Hong Kong stock market during the year, the Group recorded an 
overall fair value loss of HK$35.4 million on the listed equity investments for the year (2015: fair value gain of HK$26.1 million), 
including a fair value loss of approximately HK$11.0 million recorded from the investment in China Resources Pharmaceutical 
Group Limited. In terms of future prospects of the Group’s listed equity investments, their performance is to a large extent subject 
to the corresponding performance of the relevant financial markets which can be volatile.

On 14 March 2017, the Group announced the acquisition of the entire issued share capital of Supreme Access International 
Limited and August Estate Limited, for an aggregate consideration of HK$280.7 million. The principal activities of the two 
companies are property investments in Hong Kong by holding two floors of commercial properties situated in Hong Kong with 
an aggregate monthly rental of approximately HK$660,000 (exclusive of government rent, rates, management fees and other 
charges). It is expected that the acquisition will further expand the Group’s property leasing business in Hong Kong. Details of the 
transaction were contained in the Company’s announcement dated 14 March 2017.

Save as disclosed above, there was no other significant investment held, nor were there any material acquisitions or disposals of 
subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures during the year under review. There was no present plan authorized by the Board for 
material investments or acquisition of material capital assets as at the date of this annual report.
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Comment on Segment Information
Discussion and comments on the Group’s segments, including the changes and development, were covered in the Business 
Review, Outlook and Strategy section of the Management Discussion and Analysis. Detailed information on recent changes 
and development of property investment business segment, particularly the recent acquisition and its effect on the Group was 
contained in the Business Review, Outlook and Strategy section. The segment information and operating results are set out in note 
4 of the Notes to Financial Statements in this annual report.

Save as disclosed herein, there were no other significant changes in the market conditions, new products and services introduced 
that had significantly affected the Group’s performance.

OTHER INFORMATION

Human Resources Practices
The Group’s Remuneration Policy is to ensure fair and competitive packages based on business needs and industry practice. The 
Company aims to provide incentives to Directors, senior management and employees to perform at their highest levels as well 
as to attract, retain and motivate the very best people. Remuneration will be determined by taking into consideration factors such 
as market and economic situation, inflation, employment conditions elsewhere in the Group and salaries paid by comparable 
companies. In addition, performance-based assessment such as individual’s potential and contribution to the Group, time 
commitment and responsibilities undertaken will all be considered.

There were effectively approximately 29 work forces serving for the Group as at 31 December 2016. The Group also provides 
other staff benefits including MPF, medical insurance and discretionary training subsidy. The Company also operates a 
discretionary share option scheme to motivate the performance of employees.

APPRECIATION
On behalf of the Board, I would like to extend our gratitude and sincere appreciation to management and all staff for their 
diligence and dedication to the Company throughout the year.

Cheung Chung Kiu
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 March 2017
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The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Yugang International Limited (the “Company”) is committed to 
an ongoing enhancement of effective and efficient corporate governance practices. The Board recognizes that good corporate 
governance practices are essential in bringing up the success of the Company, upholding accountability and transparency, and 
balancing the interests of shareholders, investors and employees as a whole.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE
Throughout the year ended 31 December 2016, the Company complied with all code provisions of the Corporate Governance 
Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (“Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange of 
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), except for deviation of code provision D.1.4 that the Company does not have 
formal letters of appointment for Directors setting out key terms and conditions of their appointment. The Company is of the view 
that the current arrangement is more appropriate and flexible, particularly in light of the current business activities and operational 
structure of the Company. All Directors have been serving the Company for long period of time and a clear understanding of terms 
and conditions of their appointment already exists between the Company and Directors. Additionally, each Director, including 
those appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years pursuant to bye-laws 
of the Company (“Bye-Laws”).

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set 
out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors and relevant 
employees. Following specific enquiry by the Company, each Director confirmed that throughout the accounting period covered 
by the annual report, they have complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’ S INTERESTS
The interests and short positions of Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares or debentures 
of the Company or any of its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the 
“SFO”)) as at 31 December 2016 and as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were contained in the 
section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests” of the annual report.

STRATEGIC PLANNING
The Group has maintained its long-sustained strategy of focusing on strategic expansion and diversification of business which has 
been proved successful in enhancing the Group’s investment objective of long-term growth and provided a solid foundation for 
the Group’s generation of profit in long term. In addition, the Group will also strive to maintain a prudent approach in pursuing a 
long-term strategic growth that give the Group sound financial and management capabilities.
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THE BOARD
A. Board Composition

The Company is headed by an effective Board which is responsible for promoting the success of the Company, and 
balancing the long-term interest of shareholders and stakeholders. The Board currently comprises nine Directors and 
chaired by Mr. Cheung Chung Kiu, among whom five are executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three 
independent non-executive Directors (“INEDs”). That is, one-third of the Board is INEDs which complied with Rule 3.10 
and 3.10A of the Listing Rules. Such balanced composition of executive and non-executive Directors ensures a strong 
independent element on the Board, and provides adequate check and balance to safeguarding the interest of shareholders 
and the Company as a whole. Members of the Board who come from different backgrounds and possess a diverse range 
of professional expertise and experience, collectively have a balance of skill, competence and personal qualities relevant 
to the business of the Group and therefore discharge the responsibilities efficiently and effectively. They are experienced 
personnel with academic or professional qualifications either in accounting, legal or business management and at least one 
of whom has appropriate professional qualification of accounting or related financial management expertise.

At a meeting held on 20 January 2017, the Nomination Committee reviewed the Board composition and resolved that the 
structure, size, composition and diversity (including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, 
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service) of the Board was appropriate and thereby 
achieving the measurable objectives of the Board Diversity Policy and complied with the Listing Rules. The Committee 
also recommended the re-appointment of Mr. Yuen Wing Shing, Mr. Lam Hiu Lo and Mr. Liang Kang as Directors at the 
forthcoming annual general meeting. The respective recommendation for re-appointment were made based on merit and 
contribution by the relevant Directors to the Board by reference to the Company’s principal activities and specific needs, 
with due regards to a wide range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational 
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.

Mr. Zhang Qing Xin, an executive Director, is the father of Mr. Cheung Chung Kiu, the chairman of the Company. Save 
as disclosed herein, none of Directors has any relationship (including financial, business, family or other material/relevant 
relationship) between each other. The list of Directors and their biographical details are set out in the section headed “Profiles 
of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.
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The following chart illustrates the current Board composition including Board Committees:

B. Chairman and Managing Director
The role of the Chairman and Managing Director are separately assumed and performed by Mr. Cheung Chung Kiu and 
Mr. Yuen Wing Shing respectively and their responsibilities are clearly identified in writing and segregated. There is a clear 
distinction between the Chairman’s responsibility for management of the Board and Managing Director’s responsibility 
for running the day-to-day business of the Company in order to ensure a balance of power and authority. The key 
responsibilities of the Chairman and Managing Director are set out hereunder:

 Key Responsibilities of the Chairman
Mr. Cheung Chung Kiu was appointed the Chairman of the Board in 1993. The primary role and key responsibilities of the 
Chairman include the followings:

1. To provide leadership for and overseeing the functioning of the Board to ensure its effectiveness;

2. To sketch business development plans, formulate overall strategies, objectives and policies of the Company;

3. To draw up and approve the agenda for each Board meeting, and ensure matters proposed by Directors will be 
included in the agenda;

4. To ensure each Director is given an opportunity to express his view at Board meetings, allow sufficient time for 
discussion and that each Director is properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings;

5. To ensure all Directors will receive, in a timely manner, adequate information which are accurate, clear, complete and 
reliable;

6. To ensure good corporate governance practices and procedures are established; and

7. To ensure appropriate steps are taken to provide effective communication with shareholders and that their views are 
communicated to the Board as a whole.
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 Key Responsibilities of Managing Director
Mr. Yuen Wing Shing was appointed Managing Director of the Company in 2005 who takes the role of CEO as described 
in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The primary role and key responsibilities of the Managing Director are as follows:

1. To provide leadership for the implementation of the Company’s objectives, policies and strategies;

2. To be responsible for the day-to-day management of the Company;

3. To be responsible for setting up budgets, monitoring performance of management and effectiveness of the Company;

4. To be responsible for establishing and maintaining proper risk management and internal control systems of the Group;

5. To ensure the timely and effective implementation of objectives, policies and strategies set by the Board and other 
decisions taken by or on behalf of the Board; and

6. To ensure the effective functioning of the Company’s operational divisions and departments.

C. Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lee Ka Sze, Carmelo was appointed the non-executive Director whilst Mr. Luk Yu King, James, Mr. Leung Yu Ming, 
Steven and Mr. Ng Kwok Fu were appointed the INEDs. The Non-executive Directors play an important role in the Board. 
They posses extensive academic, professional and industry expertise and management experience, in particular, Mr. Luk 
Yu King, James and Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven have appropriate professional qualifications of accounting or related 
financial management expertise. During the year, the non-executive Directors (including the INEDs) met once with the 
Chairman without presence of the Executive Directors. The non-executive Directors have made a positive contribution to 
the development of the Company’s strategy and policies by giving independent, constructive and informed comments for 
safeguarding the interest of the shareholders and the Group as a whole.

The non-excutive Directors of the Company are appointed for a term of three years and are subject to retirement by rotation 
at the Company’s annual general meetings at least once every three years in accordance with the Bye-Laws.

On 20 January 2017, the Nomination Committee assessed and reviewed the individual INED’s written confirmation of 
independence based on the independent criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and affirmed that all INEDs 
remained independent. It was noted that each of the INEDs had no interests or relationships that could materially interfere 
with their independent judgment.

D. Board Delegation
The Board steers the Company’s business direction. The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the 
Company have been delegated to management. The Executive Committee, chaired by the Chairman of the Board and 
comprised all executive Directors, has an enhanced executive role of management and undertakes full accountability to the 
Board for the day-to-day management and operation of the Group. Directions as to the powers delegated to the management 
are clearly identified. The Board shall review the delegation arrangements periodically to ensure they remain appropriate to 
the Company’s need.

The Board has reserved the following functions to the Board. Or, prior approval from the Board is required if the 
management is dealing with the following functions:

1. To formulate the long-term corporate strategy and setting business development plans;

2. To declare an interim dividend, to recommend a final dividend or to declare or recommend other distribution;

3. To supervise and monitor performance of management;

4. To review the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of the Group;
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5. To be responsible for the appointment, removal or re-appointment of Directors, senior management and auditors, and 
determine the remuneration of Directors and senior management based on the recommendations of the Remuneration 
Committee; and

6. To recommend the members of the Company for the winding up of the Company.

Board Committees
The Board delegated authorities to four Board committees to deal with matters, and specific written terms of reference were 
clearly set out to enable them to perform their functions properly. Board committees are required, unless restricted by laws 
and regulations, to report to the Board on their decisions or recommendations on a regular basis.

1. Executive Committee
 The Executive Committee, comprising all executive Directors and chaired by the Chairman of the Board, was 

established on 31 December 2004. It takes the executive role of management and is responsible for the day-to-day 
management, administration and operation of the Company.

2. Audit Committee
 Detailed information on the works and duties of the Audit Committee is contained in the Report of the Audit 

Committee in this annual report.

3. Nomination Committee
 The Nomination Committee, comprising a majority of INEDs and chaired by the Chairman of the Board, was 

established on 30 March 2012. Other members include Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven and Mr. Ng Kwok Fu. The 
Nomination Committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties and has access to independent 
professional advice at the Company’s expense if considered necessary. The major roles and functions of the 
Nomination Committee are set out in its terms of reference which are published on websites of the Company and the 
Stock Exchange.

 On 26 August 2013, the Company adopted the Board Diversity Policy which aims to set out the approach to 
achieve diversity on the Board. The Nomination Committee is responsible for monitoring the implementation and 
recommending any revisions that may be required to ensure effectiveness of the Policy. In addition, the Nomination 
Committee will discuss, review and agree annually on measurable objectives for implementing diversity on the 
Board.

 At a meeting of the Nomination Committee held on 20 January 2017, the following matters were discussed, reviewed 
and approved:

(a) the structure, size, composition and diversity (including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational 
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service) of the Board;

(b) to assess the independence of INEDs by reference to the independent criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing 
Rules;

(c) the Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity Policy and their implementation; and

(d) to make recommendation to the Board on the re-appointment of Mr. Yuen Wing Shing, Mr. Lam Hiu Lo and  
Mr. Liang Kang as Directors at the forthcoming annual general meeting. The nominations were made in 
accordance with the Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity Policy.

 The Nomination Committee considers that the current composition of the Board is characterised by diversity 
after taking into account its own business model and specific needs, whether considered in terms of professional 
background or skills.
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On 23 March 2017, the Board acknowledged and approved the Nomination Committee’s nominations and has resolved to 
recommend Mr. Yuen Wing Shing, Mr. Lam Hiu Lo and Mr. Liang Kang, the retiring Directors, to stand for re-election 
by shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting to be held on 18 May 2017. As a good corporate governance 
practice, each retiring Director abstained from voting on the respective resolutions in respect of their re-election in the 
relevant Board meeting. All retiring Directors standing for re-election do not have any service contracts with the Company 
that are not determinable by the Company within one year without compensation (other than statutory compensation). 
Biographical details of retiring Directors standing for re-election is set out in the circular to shareholders to be sent together 
with the 2016 annual report and posted under websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Attendance of individual Directors at the meeting of the Nomination Committee is set out in the section headed “Directors’ 
Attendance and Time Commitment”.

4. Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee, comprising a majority of INEDs and chaired by Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven, was 
established on 30 June 2005. Other members include Mr. Cheung Chung Kiu and Mr. Ng Kwok Fu. The head of Human 
Resources Department serves as the secretary of the Remuneration Committee and minutes of the meetings will be and 
have been sent to members within a reasonable time after the meetings. The major role and functions of the Remuneration 
Committee are set out in its terms of reference which are published on the website of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

In dealing with remuneration packages of Directors, no member of the Remuneration Committee was involved in deciding 
his own remuneration packages. The Board reviews the Remuneration Policy annually to ensure remuneration packages 
offered by the Company remains fair and competitive based on business needs and industry practice to attract and retain 
Directors to run the Company successfully without paying more than necessary. The Company aims to provide incentives 
to Directors, senior management and employees to perform at their highest level as well as to attract, retain and motivate 
the very best people. Remuneration will be determined by taking into consideration factors such as market and economic 
situation, inflation, employment conditions elsewhere in the Group and salaries paid by comparable companies. In 
addition, performance-based assessment such as individual’s potential and contribution to the Group, time commitment and 
responsibilities undertaken will all be considered. The Remuneration Committee also ensures that no individual Directors 
are involved in deciding their own remuneration. The Remuneration Committee consulted the chairman and Managing 
Director on the remuneration proposals of executive Directors, and taking into consideration other relevant factors including 
corporate goals and objectives of the Company in recommending remuneration of Directors. The Company has provided 
sufficient resources for them to perform the duties and they may access to professional advice if considered necessary.

At a meeting of the Remuneration Committee held on 20 January 2017, the following matters were discussed, reviewed and 
approved:

(a) the Remuneration Policy of the Group;

(b) the management’s remuneration proposal with reference to the Company’s corporate goals and objectives;

(c) to make recommendation to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior 
management, including benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments, and any compensation payable 
for loss or termination of their office or appointment (if any); and

(d) to make recommendation to the Board on the remuneration of non-executive Directors.

Attendance of individual Directors at the meeting of the Remuneration Committee is set out in the section headed “Directors’ 
Attendance and Time Commitment”. Information relating to the remuneration of each Director for 2016 is set out in note 9 
of the Notes to Financial Statements.
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5. Corporate Governance Functions
The Board does not have a Corporate Governance Committee. However, the Corporate Governance Functions as set out in 
Code Provision D.3.1 of the Corporate Governance Code are performed by the Board. On 23 March 2017, the Board has 
conducted a meeting of the full Board to transact the following corporate governance matters:

(a) to review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance;

(b) to review the training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior management;

(c) to review the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to review the Code of Conduct; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the Corporate Governance Code and applicable disclosure in the Corporate 
Governance Report.

E. Directors’ Attendance and Time Commitment
The members of the Board meet regularly to review and discuss the overall strategy, operational and financial performance 
of the Company. Normally four regular meetings of the full Board will be held at quarterly intervals and special ad hoc 
Board meetings will be convened when necessary to deal with everyday matters which require the Board’s prompt decision. 
In addition, the Company has established various Board committees under the Board and members of the committees have 
met at least annually to conduct business of the committees. All Directors are experienced personnel with academic or 
professional qualifications either in accounting, legal or business management, and who have given the Board and Board 
committees the benefits of their skills, expertise, backgrounds and qualifications through regular attendance and active 
participation. All Directors have attended the 2016 annual general meeting and have developed a balanced understanding of 
the views of shareholders in general.

During the year of 2016, the attendance record of Directors at regular Board meetings, Board committee meetings and the 
2016 annual general meeting are set out hereunder:

Number of meetings attended/held

Regular
Board

Meetings

Audit
Committee

 Meetings

Remuneration
Committee

Meeting

Nomination
Committee

Meeting

2016
Annual

General
Meeting

Number of meetings held 4 3 1 1 1

Executive Directors
Cheung Chung Kiu (Chairman) 4/4 N/A 1/1 1/1 1/1
Yuen Wing Shing (Managing Director) 4/4 3/3 1/1 1/1 1/1
Zhang Qing Xin 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1
Lam Hiu Lo 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1
Liang Kang 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1

Non-Executive Director
Lee Ka Sze, Carmelo 4/4 2/3 N/A N/A 1/1

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Luk Yu King, James 4/4 3/3 N/A N/A 1/1
Leung Yu Ming, Steven 4/4 3/3 1/1 1/1 1/1
Ng Kwok Fu 4/4 3/3 1/1 1/1 1/1
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Each Director is aware of his obligation to give sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Company and should 
not accept the appointment if he cannot do so. Upon reviewing (i) the attendance rates of each Director in annual general 
meeting, regular Board meetings and their respective board committee meetings; (ii) written confirmation of Directors 
regarding the number and nature of offices held in public companies or organisations and other significant commitments 
pursuant to code provision A.6.6; and (iii) written confirmation of Directors to give sufficient time and attention to the 
affairs of the Company throughout the terms of their appointments, the Board is of the view that all Directors have spent 
sufficient time in performing their responsibilities during the year under review.

F. Induction and Continuous Professional Development of Directors
Every Director is required to keep abreast of his responsibilities as a Director and of the conduct, business activities and 
development of the Company. In-house briefings on regulatory updates and relevant continuous professional development 
seminars have been provided at the Company’s expenses. Every newly appointed Director had received a comprehensive, 
formal and tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment, and subsequently further briefings and continuous 
professional development will be arranged if necessary, to ensure each Director has a proper understanding of the 
Company’s operations and business and that he is fully aware of his responsibilities under statute and common law, the 
Listing Rules and all other applicable regulations and governance.

The Company acknowledges that Directors’ training is an ongoing process. During the year under review, all Directors 
have been updated on the latest developments of the Listing Rules, Companies Ordinance and other applicable laws and 
regulations related to Directors’ duties and responsibilities. In addition, the Company Secretarial Department has arranged 
various training courses and encouraged Directors to attend at the Company’s expenses. Directors are requested to provide 
records of training to the Company Secretarial Department. All Directors confirmed that they have complied with code 
provision A.6.5 to the Listing Rules by attending various continuous professional development seminars/in-house briefings/
reading relevant materials relevant to Directors’ duties and responsibilities.

Directors’ Participation in Continuous Professional Development Training

Name Area of Training
Corporate Governance/

Regulatory Updates Operation/Industry Finance

Seminar/
Conference

E-learning/
Reading
Materials

Seminar/
Conference

E-learning/
Reading
Materials

Seminar/
Conference

E-learning/
Reading
Materials

Cheung Chung Kiu √ √ √ √

Yuen Wing Shing √ √ √ √ √ √

Zhang Qing Xin √ √ √ √

Lam Hiu Lo √ √ √ √

Liang Kang √ √ √ √

Lee Ka Sze, Carmelo √ √ √ √ √ √

Luk Yu King, James √ √ √ √ √

Leung Yu Ming, Steven √ √ √ √ √

Ng Kwok Fu √ √ √ √ √
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G. Supply of and Access to Information
The management has supplied the Board and Board Committees with adequate information in a timely manner to enable the 
Board to make informed decisions and to perform their duties and responsibilities as Director of the Company.

Generally, notice of Board meetings together with the proposed agenda are given to all Directors at least 14 days before 
each regular Board meeting and Directors are given an opportunity to include matters they wish to discuss in the agenda. 
Agendas and accompanying Board papers are provided to Directors at least 3 days before the intended date of a board or 
board committee meetings.

Minutes of the Board/Board Committee meetings with details of matters considered and decisions reached, including 
any concerns raised by Directors or dissenting views expressed, after circulation for comments by Directors, are kept by 
the company secretary or a duly appointed secretary of the relevant meeting and are open for inspection by Directors if 
necessary.

All Directors have access to the advices and services of the company secretary to ensure necessary Board procedures and 
all applicable rules and regulations are followed. All Directors are regularly updated on governance and regulatory matters. 
Directors, upon reasonable request, may have access to independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the 
Company’s expenses.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal action against Directors.

The Board is fully aware that, if a substantial shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered 
by the Board which the Board has determined to be material, the matter will not be dealt with by way of written resolution  
or by a committee (except for an appropriate Board committee set up for that purpose pursuant to a resolution passed in 
a Board meeting) but a Board meeting will be held. INEDs who, and whose associates, have no material interest in the 
transaction will be present at such Board meeting.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

A. Directors’ Responsibility for Financial Reporting
The Directors acknowledges the responsibility for preparing the accounts of the Group and to present a balanced, clear and 
understandable assessment in the Company’s annual and interim reports and other financial disclosures in accordance with 
the Listing Rules and other statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards, so as to give a true and fair view 
of the state of affairs of the Company. As at 31 December 2016, the Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties 
relating to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. The Directors also ensure the timely publication of the financial statements of the Group. During the year, in strict 
compliance with relevant provisions, the Company published the 2016 interim report and the 2016 annual report.

Management undertakes to provide sufficient explanation and information to the Board to enable it to make an informed 
assessment of financial and other information put before the Board for approval. In addition, management provides all 
members of the Board with monthly financial updates which give a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s 
performance, position and prospects in sufficient details to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their 
duties under the relevant requirements of the Listing Rules.

In preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016, the Board:

(a) adopted Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants;

(b) selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently;

(c) made prudent and reasonable judgments and estimates; and

(d) prepared the accounts on a going concern basis.
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B. External Auditors and their Remuneration
The Company’s external auditors is Messrs. Ernst & Young. The auditors’ acknowledgment of their reporting 
responsibilities is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report of the annual report. The independence of the auditors is 
monitored by the Audit Committee and disclosed in the Report of the Audit Committee. Apart from providing audit services 
of the Group’s consolidated annual financial statements, the auditors also provided non-audit services such as performing 
agreed-upon procedures on the interim financial report and tax compliance services, all appointments are in line with the 
Company’s Policy on Use of External Auditors for Non-audit Services.

During the year under review, the remuneration paid/payable for services provided by the external auditors is as follows:

Services rendered Fees paid/payable
(HK$)

Audit fee 1,465,000
Non-audit Fees (Note) 451,500

 
Total 1,916,500

 

Note: Non-audit fees include fees of HK$250,000 and HK$201,500 for agreed-upon procedures on interim financial report and tax 
compliance services fee, respectively.

C. Risk Management & Internal Control Systems
The Board acknowledges the responsibilities of establishing, maintaining and operating a sound and effective risk 
management and internal control systems, and reviews its effectiveness. An annual review on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s risk management and internal control systems has been conducted by the Board and reviewed by the Audit 
Committee. The Board is of the view that, the risk management and internal control systems of the Group for the year under 
review and up to the date of issuance of annual report is sound and effective. Detailed information on the Group’s risk 
management and internal control systems was contained in the Report of the Risk Management & Internal Control Systems 
of the annual report.

COMPANY SECRETARY
The Company engages an external service provider to provide secretarial service and has appointed Mr Albert T. da Rosa, Jr. 
of Cheung Tong & Rosa Solicitors as its company secretary. Although Mr. da Rosa is not an employee of the Company, the 
Company has assigned Mr. Wong Ka Tai, senior finance and accounting manager, as the contact person with Mr. da Rosa. 
Information in relation to the performance, financial position and other major developments of the Group are speedily delivered to 
Mr. da Rosa through the contact person assigned, to enable Mr. da Rosa to get hold of the Group’s development promptly without 
material delay. Given the long-term relationship between Mr. da Rosa and the Group, Mr. da Rosa is very familiar with the 
operations of the Group and has an in depth knowledge of the management of the Group. The Company is confident that having 
Mr. da Rosa as the company secretary is beneficial to the Group’s compliance with the relevant Board procedures, applicable 
laws, rules and regulations.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, Mr da Rosa has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional trainings.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Set out hereunder is a summary of shareholders’ rights as required to be disclosed pursuant to Code Provision O of the Corporate 
Governance Code, which are subject to the Bye-Laws, Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and applicable legislation and regulation.

Every year, an annual general meeting will be held by the Company. Further, the Board may whenever it thinks fit call general 
meetings known as special general meetings.
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Shareholders who wish to convene a special general meeting or put forward proposals at any general meeting, including the 
proposal to nominate a person for election as a Director, should follow the applicable procedures described below.

Procedures to Convene a Special General Meeting
1. Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth (1/10) of the paid-up capital of the 

Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written 
requisition to the Company, to require a special general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business 
specified in such requisition.

2. The requisition must state the purposes of such meeting, and must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the 
Company’s registered office in Bermuda at Clarendon House, Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda (“Registered 
Office”), and may consist of several documents in like form each signed by one or more requisitionists. To ensure that the 
requisition is received by the Company at the earliest opportunity, a copy of the signed requisition may also be deposited at 
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at Rooms 3301-7, China Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, 
Wanchai, Hong Kong (“Principal Place of Business”), marked for the attention of the Board or the company secretary.

3. If Directors do not within twenty-one (21) days from the date of deposit of requisition proceed duly to convene a special 
general meeting to be held within two (2) months after the deposit of the requisition, the requisitionists, or any of them 
representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene a meeting and be repaid 
by the Company for any reasonable expenses incurred, provided that any meeting so convened by the requisitionists shall 
not be held after the expiration of three (3) months from the said date of deposit of the requisition.

4. Other than an adjourned meeting,

(1) a special general meeting at which the passing of a special resolution is to be considered shall be called by at least 
twenty-one (21) clear days and not less than ten (10) clear business days written notice. All other special general 
meetings may be called by at least fourteen (14) clear days and not less than ten (10) clear business days written 
notice.

(2) any special general meeting may be called by shorter notice than that specified in sub-paragraph (1) above if it is so 
agreed by a majority in number of the shareholders having a right to attend and vote at the meeting, being a majority 
together holding not less than ninety-five per cent (95%) in nominal value of the shares giving that right.

Procedures to Put Forward Proposals at General Meetings
1. Any number of shareholders representing not less than one-twentieth (1/20) of the total voting rights of all the shareholders 

having at the date of the requisition a right to vote at the general meetings of the Company; or not less than one hundred (100) 
shareholders, shall (unless otherwise resolved by the Company) at their own expense have the right, by written requisition 
to the Company: (a) to require notice of any resolution which may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at the 
next annual general meeting to be given to shareholders; and/or (b) to request for circulation to shareholders any statement 
of not more than one thousand (1000) words with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the business 
to be dealt with at any general meeting.

2. The requisition must be signed by the requisitionists in a single document or in separate copies prepared for the purpose. 
A copy of the signed requisition, accompanied by a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses, must be 
deposited at the Company’s Registered Office: (a) in the case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution, not less 
than six (6) weeks before the annual general meeting unless an annual general meeting is called for a date six (6) weeks 
or less after the copy has been deposited, in which case the copy shall be deemed to have been properly deposited though 
not deposited within the time required; and (b) in the case of any other requisition, not less than one (1) week before the 
general meeting. To ensure that the requisition is received by the Company at the earliest opportunity, a copy of the signed 
requisition may also be deposited at the Company’s Principal Place of Business in Hong Kong, marked for the attention of 
the Board or the company secretary.



YUGANG INTERNATIONAL LIMITED   Annual Report 2016 21

Corporate Governance Report

Procedures to Propose a Person for Election as a Director
Detailed information and procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a Director are set out in the Company’s 
website www.yugang.com.hk.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
The Board recognizes the importance of good communications with shareholders and the investment community, and the value 
of providing current and relevant information in a timely and appropriate manner. The Board has formulated the Shareholder 
Communication Policy, aiming to ensure shareholders and investment community are provided with ready, equal and timely 
access to current and relevant information of the Company, in order to enable the shareholders to have a better understanding 
on the financial and business operation of the Company, as well as to exercise their rights in a timely and informed manner. In 
addition, the Board has adopted the Inside Information Policy which sets out a guideline for identifying, assessing and broadly 
disseminating inside information of the Group to the public in a timely and equal manner in accordance with the Listing Rules, 
laws and regulations applicable to the Company. The Board reviews these policies regularly to ensure their effectiveness.

The Board endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders and general meetings of the Company provide the 
best opportunity for communication between the Board and shareholders. Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general 
meetings or, if they are unable to attend meetings, to appoint proxies to attend and vote at the meetings on their behalf. At the 
annual general meeting held on 20 May 2016, a separate resolution was proposed by the chairman in respect of each substantially 
separate issue. The Company complied with the required notice periods for general meetings under the applicable laws, rules 
and regulations. The chairman of the Board, the chairman of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination 
Committee, and representative from the external auditors attended the 2016 annual general meeting to answer questions of 
shareholders. Poll voting has been used for passing all resolutions at annual general meetings since 29 April 2005. Details of the 
poll voting procedures are clearly explained at the commencement of the meetings. The poll results are posted on the website of 
the Company and the Stock Exchange on the same day of the poll.

In addition, information may also be communicated to shareholders and the investment community through the following 
methods:

(a) periodic disclosure through financial reports of the Company, including but not limited to interim and annual reports, 
financial statements, results announcement etc;

(b) disclosure of information through circulars, announcements, notice of meetings and any other special notices whenever and 
wherever necessary in accordance with the Listing Rules;

(c) the Company’s website at http://www.yugang.com.hk and the Stock Exchange’s website at www.hkex.com.hk; and

(d) shareholders may put enquires to the Board by sending letters to the Company’s principal place of business at  
Rooms 3301-7, China Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong or by email to investors@yugang.com.hk.

INVESTOR RELATIONS
There were no significant changes in the Company’s constitutional documents during the year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Details of the significant related party transactions are provided under note 31 of the Notes to Financial Statements.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Company established the Audit Committee on 30 June 2005 which is chaired by Mr. Luk Yu King, James, with other 
members including Mr. Lee Ka Sze, Carmelo, Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven and Mr. Ng Kwok Fu. The composition of the 
Audit Committee comprises a majority of INEDs with diversified industry experience, such as accounting, legal, commercial or 
management sectors. The chairman has appropriate professional qualifications and experiences in accounting matters. The Audit 
Committee met regularly since its establishment and full minutes of the Audit Committee meetings were kept by the company 
secretary. Draft and final version of minutes of the Audit Committee meetings were sent to all members for comments and record 
within a reasonable time.

The Audit Committee is delegated by the Board to provide independent oversight of the Group’s financial reporting process, 
relationship with external auditors and risk management and internal control systems of the Group. The Audit Committee held 
three meetings in 2016 and members’ attendance records are disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ Attendance and Time 
Commitment” of the Corporate Governance Report. The Audit Committee was effective in fulfilling its roles in 2016 and 
significant matters which were reviewed and discussed by the Audit Committee include the followings:

1. Review of Financial Results

In the financial reporting process, the Audit Committee reviewed the respective work of management including the 
following:

(a) to review and discuss with the management the unaudited financial statements of the Group for the six months ended 
30 June 2016 and recommend to the Board for approval;

(b) to review and discuss with the management and external auditors the audited consolidated financial statements of the 
Group for the year ended 31 December 2016 and recommend to the Board for approval;

(c) to review the 2016 interim report and 2016 annual report; and to consider any significant financial reporting 
judgments contained in them; and

(d) to consider and discuss with management any significant or unusual items that may need to be reflected in the 2016 
annual report and any matters that have been raised by the Company’s staff responsible for accounting and financial 
reporting function, compliance officer or auditors (if any).

2. Review of Risk Management & Internal Control Systems

The Audit Committee received from, and discussed with, management (i) the Report on the effectiveness of the risk 
management and internal control systems of the Group; and (ii) the Internal Audit report. The Audit committee has:

(a) reviewed on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of the Group, covering all material 
controls, including financial, operational and compliance control, and risk management functions. The annual review 
had, in particular, considered the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and 
budgets of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function;

(b) considered major investigation findings on risk management and internal control matters and management’s response 
to these findings (if any);

(c) reviewed the financial and accounting policies and practices of the Group; and

(d) reviewed if any employees has raised concerns about any possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal control 
or other matters.
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3. Review the Independence of External Auditors

The Audit Committee reviewed and considered the relationship of the external auditors in the following aspects:

(a) to consider the terms of engagement of Ernst & Young, the Company’s external auditors;

(b) to consider the independence and objectivity of external auditors by reference to the Letter of Independence issued by 
Ernst & Young; and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with applicable standards;

(c) to make recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment of the external auditors; and

(d) to review the Policy on Engaging External Auditors to Supply Non-audit Services.

4. Review of Internal Audit Function

The Audit Committee reviewed the internal audit functions of the Group and the scope of work performed by the Internal 
Audit team during the year including the followings aspects:

(a) to review the internal control manual at corporate level to determine the main features of risk management and 
internal control systems;

(b) to review strategies, policies, procedures and guidelines authorized by the Board from which operational activities 
and related internal controls are identified;

(c) to meet with appropriate process owners/managers to identify business objectives, related risks and key controls for 
each process;

(d) to review relevant plan, budget and management reports for each process to understand how management monitors 
the effectiveness of internal controls;

(e) to review financial, operational and administrative information, documents and records for each process to ascertain 
that the related transactions are properly reflected in the accounting books and records and related assets are 
safeguarded; and

(f) to walk through selected procedures and inspect related documents with responsible personnel.
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RISK MANAGEMENT & INTERNAL CONTROL
The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Yugang International Limited (the “Company”) is pleased to present 
the Report of the Risk Management & Internal Control Systems of the Group. The Board acknowledges the responsibilities of 
establishing, maintaining and operating sound and effective risk management and internal control systems. The Audit Committee 
assists the Board in overseeing the Group’s overall risk management framework and internal control systems, whilst management 
is responsible for designing, implementing and monitoring of the Group’s risk management framework and internal control 
system.

INTERNAL CONTROL
The Group’s internal control system comprises a well-established organizational structure, comprehensive budgeting, reporting, 
policies and procedures, aiming to identify and manage risks that could adversely hinder the achievement of business objectives 
of the Company, provide reasonable, albeit not absolute, assurance against failure in operational system, material error, loss 
or fraud to the Company. In addition, the Board adopted the Inside Information Policy in line with the “Inside Information” 
disclosure regime under the Securities and Future Ordinance which sets out the framework and guidelines to Directors, officers 
and all employees of the Group in dealing with, control and release of inside information of the Group, and to ensure that inside 
information can be promptly identified, assessed and broadly disseminated to the public in equal and timely manner in accordance 
with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), 
applicable laws and regulations.

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTIONS
At a meeting of the Board held on 3 December 2015, the Board approved the establishment of an internal audit function to assist 
the Audit Committee to review and evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems 
of the Group and to manage the risks inherent in the achievement of business objective of the Company. Further details of the  
audit works together with the assessment of the risk management and internal control systems were contained in the section 
headed “Review of Internal Audit Function” of the Report of the Audit Committee.

RISK MANAGEMENT
The Board considers that risk management and internal controls are closely related and typically embedded in daily business 
operations of the Company. The Group adopts the dual Top-down-Bottom-up Approach in risk management framework as risk 
management is the responsibilities of Directors, management, internal audit and all staff of the Group. Instead of a separate or 
standalone process, risk management is integrated into business processes of the Group, including strategy development, business 
planning, capital allocation, investment decisions, internal controls and day-to-day operations of the Company.
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The following diagram highlights the risk management framework of the Group:

The Board considers that the risk management framework of the Group shall encompass the following key processes:

1. RISK IDENTIFICATION
The Board understands that risk is an integral part of business, improvement in company performance and greater returns 
for investors are direct results of measured and successful risk-taking. The challenge is therefore identification of risks, 
selection of tolerable risk appetite based on the business needs of the Company and proper management of risks so that risks 
can be reduced, transferred, avoided or understood. The risk objective of the Company is therefore managing risk instead of 
eliminating so as to provide reasonable, albeit not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss of the Company.

The process of risk identification will consider both internal and external factors which may adversely affect the 
achievement of the Company’s objectives. The tools used in identifying risk are “Data Collection” and “Risk Control Self-
Assessment” (“RCSA”) which is the process in which potential material risks are identified and recorded with their related 
controls. In applying RCSA, the Group used survey and expert judgment to obtain a thorough understanding of different 
risk categories arising from different possible sources of uncertainties in both external and internal environment associated 
with each of business units of the Group.
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2. RISK EVALUATION
Risk evaluation is the process of analyzing the existing and emerging risks to form the basis for the Company to determine 
appropriate actions or mitigation measures to manage the risks. The Group, principally engaged in treasury investment and 
property leasing, is influenced by various external and internal factors. The Group uses “risk weighting” to represent the 
top five risks that may significantly affect the Group’s businesses. The setting of “risk weighting” aligns with the tolerance 
level of risk appetite that the Group is willing to undertake in pursuit of its strategic and business objectives. The Group will 
only take reasonable risk that (i) fits the Group’s business objectives and strategy; (ii) can be understood and managed; (iii) 
will not expose the Group to material financial loss or affect its ongoing financial viability; and (iv) will not result in breach 
of Listing Rules, Ordinances and regulations applicable to the Group.

The Group categorized the following top five risks that are currently facing and exposing by the Group:

      

RISK FACTORS RISK TYPE RISK CATEGORIES
PRINCIPAL
RISKS ARISE FROM KEY MITIGATION      

FINANCIAL Market Risks • Equity price risk
• Interest rate risk
• Currency exchange risk
• Commodity price risk

Top 1 Treasury Management 
Business

– Maintain a well diversified portfolio of 
securities investment

Credit Risks • Default of loan and interest payment
• Loan concentration
• Impairment of collateral
• Overdue of rental payment
• Rental price risk

Top 2 Money Lending Business

Property Leasing Business

– Proactive credit review periodically
– Control the credit exposure to avoid 

concentration of risk
– Maintain high quality diversified tenant 

base      
COMPLIANCE Legal & 

Compliance 
Risk

• Prevention of bribery, corruption and 
money laundering

• Risk resulting from non-compliance 
with applicable laws, regulations or 
contractual obligation

Top 4 Maintenance of bank 
account, purchasing of 
office supplies 
Updates of Listing Rules, 
Accounting Standards and 
Ordinances

– Update and keep a full set of legal 
documents

– Perform regular review on contracts
– Seek internal or external legal advice
– Compliance review      

OPERATIONAL Human 
Resources

• Potential negligence or willful 
misconduct

• Conflict of interests
• Low morale & staff turnover
• Fraud or forgery
• Insider dealing of securities

Top 3 Inherent in all business 
activities

– Provide a good working environment and 
attractive salaries

– Promote employee ethics through 
Employee Handbook and Code of 
Conduct

– Set procedures for employees to 
raise concern on any irregularities, 
misstatement and frauds

– Segregation of powers

Cyber Security
(Process & 
System)

• Data entry errors
• Client or Vendor disputes
• Misuse of Company information
• Hardware or Software Failures

Top 5 Inherent in operation and 
computer system

– Perform regular check and review
– Review existing practices or processes 

regularly
– Conduct an annual review on the 

effectiveness of the risk management and 
internal control systems      



YUGANG INTERNATIONAL LIMITED   Annual Report 2016 27

Report of the Risk Management & Internal Control Systems

3. RISK MONITORING, CONTROL MEASURES & MITIGATION
The Company adopted the Risk Management & Internal Control Manual (the “Manual”) which sets out all policies and 
procedures for departments and employees to follow. The Company will review the Manual annually and periodically to 
modify policies and procedures if necessary so as to comply with the amendments of Listing Rules and/or other rules and 
regulations applicable to the Company. The Group also established an effective and efficient reporting mechanism for risk 
profiles and material exposures to losses. The Group has persistently promoted high standard of ethics and integrity with the 
aid of Employee Handbook and Code of Conduct. In addition, the Group has maintained a pleasant working environment, 
adequate workplace safety and satisfactory employment condition with a view to ensuring high standard of ethics and 
integrity. In addition, the Board understands that unexpected changes or unforeseen interruption to its business operations 
can be a major source of operational risk. The Group has in place contingency plan and business continuity plan to ensure 
the ability to operate on an ongoing basis and limit losses in the event of severe business disruption.

ANNUAL REVIEW
An annual review on the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems covering all material controls, 
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management functions has been conducted by the Board and 
reviewed by the Audit Committee. The review has, in particular, considered the following areas:

1. the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and budgets of the Company’s 
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions;

2. the Group’s risk management framework;

3. the scope and quality of management’s ongoing monitoring of risk management and internal control systems, and the work 
of the internal audit function; 

4. any changes, since the last annual review on the effectiveness of the internal control system of the Group, in the nature and 
extent of significant risks, and the Company’s ability to respond to changes in its business and external environment;

5. the extent and frequency of communication of monitoring results to the Board which enables it to assess control of the 
Company and the effectiveness of risk management;

6. significant control failing or weaknesses that have been identified (if any) during the period under review and the extent to 
which they have resulted in unforeseen outcomes or contingencies that have had, could have had, or may in the future have, 
a material impact on the Company’s financial performance or condition; and

7. the effectiveness of the Company’s processes for financial reporting and Listing Rules compliance.

The Board is of the view that, the risk management and internal control systems of the Group for the year under review and up 
to the date of issuance of annual report is sound and effective, and sufficient to safeguarding the interests of shareholders and 
assets of the Company. The Board also considers that the resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes 
and budget of the Company’s accounting staff, internal audit and financial reporting functions are adequate. There was no 
indication of significant control failing or material weaknesses that may affect the financial, operational, compliance controls and 
risk management function of the Group, nor any suspected frauds, misstatement or infringement of applicable laws, rules and 
regulations were identified during the review. While noting that the risk management and internal control systems of the Group 
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives of the Company, and it can only 
provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of Yugang International Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 
(collectively the “Group”) is pleased to present the Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “Report”) which is made 
in accordance with the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide under Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the 
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The information disclosed in the Report is derived from the 
internal statistics, results and analyses of the Group’s internal management systems.

MANAGEMENT APPROACH, STRATEGY & POLICY
The Board is committed to the long-term sustainable development of environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) practice. 
The Board recognises the importance of ESG factors and aims to manage ESG issues and their associated risks, and adhere to a 
high standard business practices in maintaining environmental and social sustainability. The Board is committed to engaging ESG 
considerations as an integral part of the business operations of the Company and strives to continually improve our environmental 
performance in line with applicable rules and regulations. The Company will further enhance ESG management by actively 
participating in community engagement and ensuring our business development will take into consideration the communities’ 
interests.

In furtherance of this commitment, the Board adopted the ESG Policy (the “Policy”) on 6 June 2016 aiming to set out guidelines 
and framework for the Company to handle ESG issues associated with the business operation and investment of the Group. The 
Policy applies to all Directors, management and employees throughout the Group and all employees have a duty to uphold the 
standards established in the Policy, which enable the Company to achieve a high standard of business ethics, governance and 
integrity.

SCOPE OF REPORT AND PERIOD
The Report covers the core businesses of the Group in Hong Kong including: (i) treasury management; and (ii) property leasing. 
In view of the business nature of the Group, we are not aware of any environmental laws and regulations that would have a 
significant impact on the Group. The Report disclosed information on the Company’s Policy and performance, management 
approach, strategy, priorities and objectives during the period of 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2016.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT
The Group’s main stakeholder engagement in ESG promotion includes employees, shareholders, local communities, investors 
and regulators. The Company shall ensure the communication of the Policy, management strategy and approach of the Company 
in environmental protection to our stakeholders through different channels including annual general meeting of the Company, 
Company’s website, regular seminars to employees, etc.

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE
The Board is responsible for formulating ESG strategy and reporting, evaluating and determining the Company’s ESG-related 
risks, and ensuring that appropriate and effective ESG risk management and internal control systems are in place. Management is 
responsible for assisting the Board in discharging the above duties and responsibilities, implementing the Policy, and providing 
confirmation to the Board on the effectiveness of ESG risk management and internal control systems. Management will, where 
appropriate, delegate ESG responsibilities to officers and managers at departmental levels, or instruct external professionals in the 
identification and management of its risks and opportunities.
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REPORTING ON ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

A. ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

A.1. Emissions
 The Company complied with the Policy and all the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the 

Company relating to air and greenhouse gas emission, discharges into water and land, and/or generation of hazardous 
and non-hazardous waste. The operation of the Group does not have significant impact on the environment and the 
Group has taken the following steps to closely monitor and manage the environmental effect of the operations of the 
business:

1.1 The Company did not generate significant greenhouse gas emissions as the emissions are indirectly and 
principally resulting from consuming electricity and gases at the workplace, vehicles and business travels by 
employees;

1.2 Environmental or green procurement-related materials have been distributed to employees to enhance their 
awareness on ESG issues. Actively encourage employees to cherish our environment and embrace green 
products, foster low carbon office and green working environment, whenever practicable;

1.3 The indoor temperature and running time of air-conditioning system are controlled to reduce energy 
consumption and carbon emissions;

1.4 Employees were encouraged to enhance energy efficiencies and water conservation, and take reduction 
initiatives to manage non-hazardous waste generation in our business operation; and

1.5 The Company did not generate hazardous waste during its business operation, discharge of water and non-
hazardous waste were divided into recyclable or non-recyclable waste and handled in an environmentally 
responsible manner in line with the applicable environmental protection laws and regulations whenever 
practicable.

A.2. Use of Resources
 Due to the Group’s business nature, the energy, power and water utilization is relatively low and only restricted 

to workplace. The Group is committed to conserve natural resources and the Company has adopted green office 
practices to reduce natural resources consumption which included the followings:

2.1 The Group strive to minimize environmental impact by encouraging employees to conserve resources by 
reducing energy consumption and water usage, and exploring energy use efficiency initiatives or alternatives, 
whenever practicable;

2.2 The Group encourages employees to handle documents electronically. When the use of paper is required, 
employees are encouraged to print documents in double-sided papers and black-and-white to conserve printer 
ink;

2.3 Recycle bins are placed in the office to encourage employees to use recycle office supplies whenever 
practicable;

2.4 Teleconference and internet-meeting is encouraged to avoid unnecessary business travel;

2.5 The Group used woodfree FSC certified paper in printing of its 2016 interim report and 2016 annual report; and

2.6 Office equipments particularly electrical appliances were set in standby mode whenever practicable and shut 
down after office hours.
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A.3. The Environment and Natural Resources
 The Company shall ensure compliance with all applicable environmental related legislations and regulations. 

Notwithstanding the core business of the Group has remote impact on the environment and natural resources, the 
Board is committed to give careful consideration to identify whether the Company’s performances in respect of 
emissions, waste production and disposal, and use of resources have negative impacts on the environment and take 
initiative measures and actions to manage and minimize these impacts whenever practicable in order to achieve a 
long-term sustainable development of ESG practice.

B. SOCIAL ASPECT

B.1 Employment and Labour Practices
 Employees are regarded as the greatest value of the Company. The Company adheres to fair and open recruitment 

of staff, and provides protection of rights and interests for employees. The Company’s Remuneration Policy is to 
ensure fair and competitive packages based on business needs and industry practice. The Company aims to provide 
incentives to Directors, senior management and employees to perform at their highest levels as well as to attract, 
retain and motivate the very best people. Remuneration will be determined by taking into consideration factors such 
as market and economic situation, inflation, employment conditions elsewhere in the Group and salaries paid by 
comparable companies. In addition, performance-based assessment such as individual’s potential and contribution to 
the Company, time commitment and responsibilities undertaken will all be considered. The Group also provides other 
staff benefits including MPF, medical insurance and discretionary training subsidy. The Company also operates a 
discretionary share option scheme to motivate the performance of employees. 

 The Company complied with the Employment Ordinance (Cap 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and all the relevant 
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Company relating to compensation and dismissal, 
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other 
benefits and welfare for the year ended 31 December 2016.

B.2 Health and Safety
 The Company is committed to enhance occupational safety and ensure that health and safety standards are given 

prime consideration in the operation of our business. Initiative safety measures have been/will be taken to maintaining 
a safe working environment sufficiently enough to protect employees from occupational hazards.

 The Group provides a safe, healthy and hygienic working environment to staff with labour protection, reasonable 
remuneration and various welfares. The Company provides medical insurance covering out-patient, hospitality and 
annual body check up for employees. The Company encourages employees to maintain a work-life balance and 
numerous sports and recreation activities have been/will be conducted through Staff Club which includes health & 
nutrition talks, yoga class and outing activities.

 The Company complied with all the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Company 
relating to health and safety during the year ended 31 December 2016.

B.3 Development and Training
 The Company acknowledges the importance of continuous training of employees and has in place a comprehensive 

training scheme and program to enhance the professional ethics and product knowledge of employees. The Company 
has/will periodically arrange(d) seminars, briefings or trainings on regulatory updates or industry practices related to 
the business needs of the Company and encourage(d) Directors and employees to attend at the Company’s expenses. 
In addition, the Company has/will provide(d) training subsidy to employees attending job-related training courses.



YUGANG INTERNATIONAL LIMITED   Annual Report 2016 31

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

B.4 Labour Standards
 The Company is committed to preventing and effectively eliminating all forms of child and forced labour. The 

Company has complied with all the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Company 
relating to preventing child and forced labour.

B.5 Supply Chain Management
 The Group’s business operation may not directly cause significant negative environmental and social impacts to 

our suppliers. However, the Company shall ensure the communication of the Policy and management’s strategy 
and approach in environmental protection to our stakeholders including suppliers and employees for the purpose of 
managing potential environmental and social risks of the supply chain.

B.6 Product Responsibility
 The Company shall ensure compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the 

Company relating to health and safety, advertising, labeling and privacy matters relating to products and services 
provided and methods of redress. The Company aims to incorporate ESG consideration in our business operation and 
investment decisions.

B.7 Anti-corruption
 The Company’s anti-bribery and anti-corruption practices are governed by the Code of Conduct of the Company 

which provides clear guidelines for employees to work in an ethical and socially responsible manner. The Company 
has adopted the “Policy for Employees Raising Concerns about Possible Improprieties in Financial Reporting, 
Internal Control or Other Matters” which allows employees to voice out their concerns in confidence without fear of 
victimization, subsequent discrimination or disadvantage. The Company complied with relevant laws and regulations 
that have a significant impact on the Company relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering, among 
other things, Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Cap 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

B.8 Community Engagement
 The Company is committed to delivering positive community engagement, particularly understanding the needs of 

the communities where the Company operates its business, and ensuring our business activities and investments shall 
take into consideration the communities’ interests. The Company’s community involvement includes the direct or 
indirect participating and/or contributing to dedicated projects through donations. The Board also recognizes ESG 
practice as a continuous process of improvement and actively carries out environmental friendly practices whenever 
appropriate and possible.
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The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Yugang International Limited (the “Company”) has pleasure in presenting the 
report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the 
year ended 31 December 2016.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
Yugang International Limited is incorporated in Bermuda and its head office and principal place of business in Hong Kong is 
Rooms 3301-7 China Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of its principal subsidiaries and associate 
are set out in note 1 “Corporate and Group Information” and note 16 “Investment in An Associate” of the Notes to Financial 
Statements respectively.

There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year.

RESULTS AND STATE OF AFFAIRS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016 and the state of affairs of the Group at that date are set out in the 
financial statements on pages 46 to 88.

BUSINESS REVIEW
A fair review of the business and a discussion and analysis of the performance of the Group during the year is set out in the 
section headed “Business Review” of the Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis of the annual report. 
Discussion and analysis on particulars of important events affecting the Company that have occurred since the end of the financial 
year of 2016, and an indication of likely future development in the Company’s business are set out in the section headed “Significant 
Investments Held, Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries, and Future Plans for Material Investment or Capital 
Assets” of the annual report. In addition, a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group is set out in the 
section headed “Principal Risks and Uncertainties” of the Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis of the 
annual report. An analysis using financial key performance indicators is set out in the section headed “Financial Review” of the 
Management Discussion and Analysis of the annual report.

Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Performance
The Group is committed to achieving sustainable development and protection of the environment and engaging ESG 
considerations as an integral part of our business operations and investment. The Company’s strategy in ESG management can 
be achieved by adopting eco-friendly management practices, making efficient use of resources, and promoting green awareness 
within the Company. The Group strives to promote awareness on environmental protection and optimizes efficient use of energy 
in daily operation by encouraging employees to recycle office supplies, plus a series of measures to develop practices to promote 
energy-saving and emission reduction. The Company will further enhance ESG management by participating in community 
engagement and ensuring our business development will take into consideration the communities’ interest. The Group has 
complied with all the applicable environmental laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Group. Details of ESG 
practice of the Group are set out in the ESG Report of this annual report which are prepared in accordance with the Environmental, 
Social and Governance Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing 
Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Compliance with Regulations
The Group complies with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Company including The 
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the Companies Ordinance (to the extent applicable to the Group), as well as the Listing Rules 
and the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) for, among other things, the disclosure of information and corporate 
governance practice.

Relationship with Employee, Customers, Suppliers and Others
The Company actively manages its relationships with employees, customers, investors, regulators, members of the communities in 
which we operate, and other stakeholders whose actions can affect the Company’s performance and value.
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DIVIDEND
The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.002 per share for the year ended 31 December 
2016 (2015: HK$0.004 per share) to holders of ordinary shares of the Company (the “Shares”) whose names appear on the 
register of members of the Company on 29 May 2017. No interim dividend was declared for the financial year of 2016 and 2015. 
Subject to shareholders’ approval at the AGM, the proposed final dividend will be paid to shareholders on or about 6 June 2017.

RESERVES
Particulars of movement in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the year are set out in note 36(b) of the Notes to 
Financial Statements and the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
The Company’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders as at 31 December 2016, calculated in accordance with 
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, amounted to HK$877,101,000 (2015: HK$917,487,000), of which HK$18,611,000 (2015: 
HK$37,221,000) was proposed as final dividend for the year. In addition, the Company’s share premium account, in the amount 
of HK$907,280,000 (2015: HK$907,280,000), may be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus Shares.

BANK BORROWINGS
Particulars of bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2016 are set out in note 23 of the Notes to Financial Statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
An analysis of the segment performance of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016 is set out in note 4 of the Notes to 
Financial Statements.

FIVE YEAR SUMMARY
A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the past five financial years, as extracted from the 
audited financial statements, is set out on page 90. This summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Particulars of the property and equipment of the Group and any movement thereof during the year are set out in note 14 of the 
Notes to Financial Statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
The Group’s investment properties were revalued by an independent professional valuer as at 31 December 2016. The increase in 
fair value arising on the revaluation, which has been credited directly to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss, amounted to 
HK$1,100,000. Details of the investment properties of the Group and any movement thereof during the year are set out in note 15 
of the Notes to Financial Statements and particulars of the investment properties of the Group are set out on page 89.

SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATE
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries and associate are set out in notes 1 and 16 of the Notes to Financial Statements 
respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL
Particulars of the Company’s share capital and any movement thereof during the year are set out in note 26 of the Notes to 
Financial Statements.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no pre-emptive rights provisions in Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda or the Bye-Laws.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Other than the Share Option Scheme as disclosed below, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Company during 
the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

DONATIONS
The charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted to HK$30,000 (2015: Nil).

DIRECTORS
The list of Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual report is set out in the Corporate Information of this annual 
report. Information about the Board, including appointment and re-election of Directors, is set out in the Corporate Governance 
Report. The biographical details of Directors and senior management is set out in the section headed “Profiles of Directors and 
Senior Management” of the annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE
The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence 
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS
Mr. Lee Ka Sze, Carmelo ceased to be a member of the Disciplinary Panel A of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants with effect from 1 February 2017. Other information of Mr. Lee is set out in Profiles of Directors and Senior 
Management of the annual report.

Save as disclosed herein, upon specific enquiry by the Company and following confirmations from Directors, there is no change 
in information of Directors which are required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID 
EMPLOYEES
Particulars of Directors’ emoluments and the five highest paid employees of the Group are set out in notes 9 to 10 of the Notes to 
Financial Statements respectively.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contract concerning management and/or administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company 
was entered into or existed during the year.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT
No Director has a service contract with the Company that is not determinable by the Company within one year without 
compensation (other than statutory compensation). No Director has a service contract with the Company that are exempt under 
Rule13.69 of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR 
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE
There were no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company 
or any of its holding companies or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or an entity 
connected with the Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisting during or at the end of the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
Pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules, during the year and up to the date of this annual report, none of Directors and their 
associates had any interest in business which competed or was likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with the principal business 
of the Group.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group entered into certain transactions with parties regarded as “related parties” 
under the applicable accounting principles. None of which were subject to the reporting requirements under Chapter 14A to the 
Listing Rules. Details of these transactions are disclosed in note 31 of the Notes to Financial Statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
In 2016, revenue to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for 31.3% of the total revenue for the year whereas revenue to 
the largest customer included therein amounted to 15.0%. There was no purchase from suppliers by the Group during the year.

None of Directors, their associates or any shareholders who, to the knowledge of Directors, own more than 5% of the issued 
shares, had any interest in any of the five largest customers.

MANDATORY PROVIDENT FUND
The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) for all of 
its employees. Particulars of the MPF Scheme are set out in note 2.4 of the Notes to Financial Statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Company’s principal corporate governance practice is set out in the Corporate Governance Report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of Directors, the Company has 
maintained the prescribed amount of public float during the year and up to the date of this annual report as required under the 
Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE 
COMPANY
Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, redeemed or sold any of the listed securities of the Company 
during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS
The Bye-Laws provides that each Director or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets 
of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he or she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of duties of his or 
her office or otherwise in relation thereto. In addition, the Company has maintained appropriate directors and officers liability 
insurance in respect of relevant legal actions against the Directors.

Such permitted indemnity provisions have been in force throughout the year under review and is currently in force at the time of 
approval of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
As at 31 December 2016, the interests and short positions of Directors and chief executive of the Company in the Shares, 
underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO 
(the “Associated Corporations”)) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the 
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by 
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) were as follows:

(i) Long positions in Shares:

Number of Percentage of
Ordinary Issued

Name of Director Nature of Interest Shares Held Share Capital    
    
Mr. Cheung Chung Kiu Interest of controlled corporation (note 1) 4,046,389,740 43.49

Beneficial owner 53,320,000 0.57
Mr. Zhang Qing Xin Beneficial owner 13,600,000 0.15
Mr. Lam Hiu Lo Beneficial owner 41,800,000 0.45
Mr. Liang Kang Beneficial owner 30,000,000 0.32

(ii) Long positions in shares of Associated Corporations:

Name of Director

Name of 
Associated 
Corporation Nature of Interest

Number of 
Ordinary

Shares Held

Percentage of 
Issued Share 

Capital of 
Associated 

Corporation
     
Mr. Cheung Chung Kiu Y. T. Realty Group Limited Interest of controlled corporation 

(note 2)
273,000,000 34.14

Mr. Ng Kwok Fu Y. T. Realty Group Limited Beneficial owner 50,000 0.006 
Interest of spouse 40,000 0.005

Notes:

(1) Under Part XV of the SFO, Mr. Cheung Chung Kiu is deemed to be interested in 3,194,434,684 Shares which are held by Chongqing 
Industrial Limited (“Chongqing”) and 851,955,056 Shares are held by Timmex Investment Limited (“Timmex”).

 Mr. Cheung Chung Kiu, Peking Palace Limited, Miraculous Services Limited and Prize Winner Limited have 35%, 30%, 5% and 
30% equity interests in Chongqing respectively.

 Peking Palace Limited and Miraculous Services Limited are beneficially owned by Palin Discretionary Trust, a family discretionary 
trust, the objects include Mr. Cheung Chung Kiu and his family.

 Prize Winner Limited is beneficially owned by Mr. Cheung Chung Kiu and his associates.

 Timmex is 100% beneficially owned by Mr. Cheung Chung Kiu.

(2) The 273,000,000 shares are held by Funrise Limited, a company indirectly controlled by Palin Holdings Limited, which in turn is 
wholly-owned by Mr. Cheung Chung Kiu. Palin Holdings Limited is the trustee for Palin Discretionary Trust, a family discretionary 
trust, the objects include Mr. Cheung Chung Kiu and his family.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2016, none of Directors or chief executive of the Company and their respective 
associates had any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its 
Associated Corporations as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or as 
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The share option scheme of the Company (the “Share Option Scheme”) was adopted on 21 May 2015, the terms of which are in 
line with and complies with the requirements of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The particulars in relation to the Share Option Scheme that are required to be disclosed under Rules 17.07 to 17.09 of the Listing 
Rules are set out below:

(1) Purpose To provide the Company with a flexible means of giving incentive 
to, rewarding, remunerating, compensating and/or providing benefits, 
to the Participants (as hereinafter defined) and to serve such other 
purposes as the Board may approve from time to time.

(2) Participants It includes any director (or any persons proposed to be appointed 
as such, whether executive or non-executive), officer or employee 
(whether full-time or part-time) of each member of the Eligible Group 
(as hereinafter defined); any business consultant, professional or 
other advisers (in the areas of legal, technical, financial or corporate 
managerial) (including any executive, officer or employee of such 
business consultant, professional and other advisers) to each member of 
the Eligible Group (or persons proposed to be appointed as such) who 
has rendered service or will render service to the Group, as absolutely 
determined by the Board;

The Eligible Group includes:

(i) the Company and each of its substantial shareholders; and

(ii) each associate or substantial shareholder or direct or indirect 
subsidiary, associated company or joint venture of any of the 
Company or of a substantial shareholder referred to in (i) above; 
and

(iii) each associate or substantial shareholder or direct or indirect 
subsidiary, associated company or joint venture of any of the 
foregoing entities referred to in (ii) above; and

(iv) each associate or substantial shareholder or direct or indirect 
subsidiary, associated company or joint venture of any of the 
foregoing entities referred to in (iii) above; and

(v) each associate or substantial shareholder or direct or indirect 
subsidiary, associated company or joint venture of any of the 
foregoing entities referred to in (iv) above.

(3) The total number of securities available for issue 
under the Share Option Scheme together with the 
percentage of the issued share capital as at the 
date of the annual report

930,527,675 ordinary Shares which represent 10% of the issued share 
capital of the Company as at the date of the annual report.
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(4) The maximum entitlement of Shares of each 
Participant

(a) Subject to sub-paragraphs (b), (c) and (d) below, the total number 
of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options 
granted to each Participant under the Share Option Scheme and 
any other share option schemes of the Company (including those 
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12-month 
period shall not exceed 1 per cent of the total number of Shares 
in issue.

(b) Notwithstanding sub-paragraph (a), where any further grant of 
options to a Participant would result in the Shares issued and to 
be issued upon exercise of all options granted and to be granted 
to such Participant (including those exercised, cancelled and 
outstanding options) in the 12-month period up to and including 
the date of such further grant representing in aggregate over 
1 per cent of the total number of Shares in issue, such further 
grant must be separately approved by the shareholders of the 
Company in general meeting with such Participant and his or 
her close associates, or his or her associates if the Participant is 
a connected person of the Company (all within the meaning as 
ascribed under the Listing Rules), abstaining from voting.

(c) Each grant of options to a Participant who is a director, chief 
executive or substantial shareholder of the Company (all within 
the meaning as ascribed under the Listing Rules) or any of their 
respective associates, must be approved by the INEDs (excluding 
any INED who is a proposed grantee).

(d) Where the Board proposes to grant any option to a Participant 
who is a substantial shareholder or an INEDs, or any of their 
respective associates which would result in the Shares issued 
and to be issued upon exercise of all options already granted 
and to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled and 
outstanding) to the Participant under the Share Option Scheme 
and any other share option schemes of the Company in the 
12-month period up to and including the date of such grant:-

(i) representing in aggregate more than 0.1 per cent of the 
total number of Shares in issue; and

(ii) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price 
of the Shares at the date of each grant, in excess of 
HK$5,000,000,

 such proposed grant of options must be approved by the 
shareholders of the Company in general meeting. The Participant, 
his or her associates, and all core connected persons (within the 
meaning as ascribed under the Listing Rules) of the Company 
shall abstain from voting in favour at such general meeting.
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(5) The period within which the securities must be 
taken up under an option

An option may be exercised at any time during a period to be 
determined and notified by Directors to each grantee, but shall end in 
any event not later than 10 years from the date of offer of the grant of 
options subject to the provisions for early termination set out in the 
Share Option Scheme.

(6) The minimum period for which an option must 
be held before it can be exercised

There is no minimum period for which an option granted must be held 
before it can be exercised except otherwise imposed by Directors.

(7) Amount payable on acceptance of the option and 
the period within which such payment must be 
made

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted with a 
consideration of HK$1.00 being payable by the grantee.

(8) The basis of determining the exercise price The exercise price shall be a price solely determined by the Board and 
shall not be less than the highest of:-

(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s 
daily quotation sheet on the date of grant of the option which 
must be a Business Day;

(ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock 
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the 5 consecutive Business 
Days immediately preceding the date of grant of the option; and

(iii) the nominal value of a Share on the date of grant of the option.

Without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing and subject to the 
Listing Rules, the Board may grant the options in respect of which the 
exercise price is fixed at different prices for different periods during the 
option period.

(9) The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme The Share Option Scheme remains in force until 20 May 2025.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings. No shares options had been 
granted since adoption of the Share Option Scheme, nor were there any outstanding share options as at 31 December 2016.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests” and “Share Option Scheme” above, at no 
time during the year under review, was the Company or any of its subsidiaries or its holding company, a party to any arrangement 
to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body 
corporate, and none of Directors, or any of their associates, had any interests in or was granted any rights to subscribe for Shares, 
or had exercised any such rights.



YUGANG INTERNATIONAL LIMITED   Annual Report 201640

Report of the Directors

INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
As at 31 December 2016, the following persons had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which were 
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO; or as otherwise notified to the 
Company and the Stock Exchange:

Long positions in Shares:

Number of Percentage
Capacity and Ordinary of Issued

Name Notes Nature of Interest Shares Held Share Capital
     
Timmex Investment Limited 1 Beneficial owner 851,955,056 9.16
Chongqing Industrial Limited 2 Beneficial owner 3,194,434,684 34.33
Palin Holdings Limited 3 Interest of controlled corporation 3,194,434,684 34.33
Mr. Cheung Chung Kiu 4 Interest of controlled corporation 4,046,389,740 43.49

Beneficial owner 53,320,000 0.57

Notes:

(1) Timmex is 100% beneficially owned by Mr. Cheung Chung Kiu.

(2) The voting rights of these Shares are exercisable by Chongqing which is controlled by Mr. Cheung Chung Kiu.

(3) Under Part XV of the SFO, Palin Holdings Limited (“Palin”) is deemed to be interested in 3,194,434,684 Shares held by Chongqing since 
Palin is entitled to control the exercise of 65% of the voting power at general meetings of Chongqing. Such interest in Chongqing is also 
held by Palin in the capacity as the trustee of Palin Discretionary Trust, a family discretionary trust, the objects include Mr. Cheung Chung 
Kiu and his family.

(4) Out of 4,046,389,740 Shares, 3,194,434,684 Shares and 851,955,056 Shares are held by Chongqing and Timmex respectively.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2016, the Company has not been notified of any other relevant interests or short 
positions in the Shares or underlying Shares that were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under section 
336 of the SFO; or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

AUDITORS
The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 have been audited by Messrs. Ernst & Young, Certified Public 
Accountants, who will retire at the AGM, being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment at the AGM. A resolution for  
re-appointment of Messrs. Ernst & Young as auditors of the Company and to authorize Directors to fix their remuneration will be 
proposed at the AGM.

By order of the Board

Yuen Wing Shing
Managing Director

Hong Kong, 23 March 2017
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Cheung Chung Kiu, aged 52, was appointed the chairman and an executive Director in 1993. Mr. Cheung is the chairman and 
a member of the Nomination Committee, a member of the Remuneration Committee and an authorised representative of the 
Company under the Companies Ordinance and the Listing Rules. Mr. Cheung also serves as a director of several subsidiaries 
of the Company. In addition, Mr. Cheung is the director of Palin Holdings Limited, Chongqing Industrial Limited and Timmex 
Investment Limited, all are companies disclosed in the section headed “Interests of Substantial Shareholders” of the annual 
report. Mr. Cheung is the founder of the Company and set up Chongqing Industrial Limited in 1985. Mr. Cheung is also the 
chairman and managing director of Y. T. Realty Group Limited, the chairman of The Cross-Harbour (Holdings) Limited and  
C C Land Holdings Limited, all are public companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Further, Mr. Cheung is the son of Mr. Zhang 
Qing Xin, a Director of the Company.

Yuen Wing Shing, aged 70, was appointed an executive Director in 1993 and the managing director of the Company on  
1 January 2005. He is the authorised representative of the Company under the Listing Rules and also serves as a director of several 
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Yuen is responsible for the Group’s administration and business operations. Mr. Yuen holds 
a diploma in management studies from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Prior to joining the Company, he held senior 
management position with a major bank in Hong Kong for over 20 years. He is also an executive director of Y. T. Realty Group 
Limited and The Cross-Harbour (Holdings) Limited, all are public companies listed on the Stock Exchange.

Zhang Qing Xin, aged 80, was appointed an executive Director in 1995. Mr. Zhang has over 20 years of experience in import 
and export trading business. Prior to joining the Company, he was the Deputy General Manager of a foreign trade enterprise for 
more than 10 years. Mr. Zhang is the director of Chongqing Industrial Limited, the major shareholder of the Company. Further,  
Mr. Zhang is the father of Mr. Cheung Chung Kiu, the chairman of the Company.

Lam Hiu Lo, aged 55, was appointed an executive Director in 1993. He also serves as a director of several subsidiaries of the 
Company. He is mainly responsible for the sales and marketing of the Group’s trading business in the PRC. He has over 30 years 
of experience in trading with PRC parties. He is an independent non-executive director of EVA Precision Industrial Holdings 
Limited, a public company listed on the Stock Exchange. Previously, Mr. Lam was an executive director of China Touyun Tech 
Group Limited (formerly known as China Opto Holdings Limited), a public company listed on the Stock Exchange and resigned 
on 26 November, 2014.

Liang Kang, aged 74, was appointed an executive Director in 1995. He is mainly responsible for the sales and marketing of the 
Group’s trading business in the PRC. Prior to joining the Company, he engaged in trading business in the PRC for over 16 years.

Lee Ka Sze, Carmelo, aged 56, was appointed an INED in 1993 and re-designated as a non-executive Director on 30 September 
2004. He is also a member of the Audit Committee. Mr. Lee received a bachelor of laws degree and a postgraduate certificate in 
laws from The University of Hong Kong. He qualified as a solicitor in Hong Kong, England and Wales, Singapore and Australian 
Capital Territory, Australia. Mr. Lee is a senior partner of Woo Kwan Lee and Lo, which firm rendered professional services 
to the Company. Mr. Lee is a member of SFC (HKEC Listing) Committee and Campaign Committee of the Community Chest 
of Hong Kong; and the co-chairman of the Community Chest Corporate Challenge Half Marathon. Mr. Lee was appointed a 
Convenor cum member of the Financial Reporting Review Panel on 16 July 2016. Mr. Lee is an independent non-executive 
director of China Pacific Insurance (Group) Co., Ltd., KWG Property Holding Limited and Esprit Holdings Limited; and a non-
executive director of CSPC Pharmaceutical Group Limited, Hopewell Holdings Limited, Safety Godown Company, Limited 
and Termbray Industries International (Holdings) Limited, all are public companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Previously,  
Mr. Lee was a non-executive director of Y. T. Realty Group Limited and an independent non-executive director of Ping An 
Insurance (Group) Company of China, Ltd but resigned on 29 February 2016 and 30 June 2015 respectively, all are public 
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. In addition, Mr. Lee was the Chairman of the Listing Committee of the Stock 
Exchange from 2012 until 9 July 2015; a member of SFC Dual Filing Advisory Group of Securities and Future Commission 
and Disciplinary Panel A of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants but resigned on 31 March 2016 and 
1 February 2017 respectively.
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Luk Yu King, James, aged 62, was appointed an independent non-executive Director in 2007. He is the chairman and a member 
of the Audit Committee. Mr. Luk graduated from The University of Hong Kong with a bachelor degree in Science. He is a fellow 
of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, an associate of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
and an ordinary member of Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute. Mr. Luk has over ten years of experience in corporate 
finance, securities and commodities trading business with several international and local financial institutions. Mr. Luk is an 
independent non-executive director of Y. T. Realty Group Limited and The Cross-Harbour (Holdings) Limited, all are public 
companies listed on the Stock Exchange.

Leung Yu Ming, Steven, aged 57, was appointed an independent non-executive Director in 2007. Mr. Leung is a member of the 
Audit Committee and Nomination Committee. He is also the chairman and a member of the Remuneration Committee. Mr. Leung 
holds a degree of master in accountancy from Charles Sturt University in Australia and a degree of bachelor of social science 
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong. Mr. Leung is an associate of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England 
and Wales, and a fellow of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants and The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong respectively. Mr. Leung is also a practising certified public accountant in 
Hong Kong and a certified practicing accountant of CPA Australia. Mr. Leung previously worked in Nomura International (Hong 
Kong) Limited as an Assistant Vice-President in International Finance and Corporate Finance Department. He commenced public 
practice in auditing and taxation in 1990 and is currently a senior partner of a firm of certified public accountants. Mr. Leung 
has over 30 years of experience in assurance, accounting, taxation, financial management and corporate finance. Mr. Leung is 
an independent non-executive director of Suga International Holdings Limited, Y. T. Realty Group Limited, The Cross-Harbour 
(Holdings) Limited and C C Land Holdings Limited, all are public companies listed on the Stock Exchange.

Ng Kwok Fu, aged 45, was appointed an independent non-executive Director in 2004. Mr. Ng is a member of the Audit 
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee. Mr. Ng holds a certificate in accounting from Grant MacEwan 
Community College. Mr. Ng has over 26 years experience in marketing, trading and purchasing of construction materials and 
providing technical control, support and management in building projects. He is an independent non-executive director of Y. T. 
Realty Group Limited and The Cross-Harbour (Holdings) Limited, all are public companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
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To the shareholders of Yugang International Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yugang International Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the 
“Group”) set out on pages 46 to 88, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016, 
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement 
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group 
as at 31 December 2016, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements  section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants  (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For the 
matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements  section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of 
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. 
The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our 
audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of investment properties

As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s investment properties 
amounted to HK$125.6 million, which were measured at 
fair value. Management’s assessment on the fair value of 
investment properties was significant to our audit because this 
process requires significant judgement.

Related disclosures are included in notes 3 and 15 to the 
financial statements.

Management uses external valuers to support its determination 
of the fair value of the investment properties. Amongst 
others, we have considered the objectivity, independence 
and expertise of the external valuers. We employed our 
internal valuation specialists to assist us with our audit of the 
valuation models in analysing the valuations and challenging 
the underlying assumptions. We also assessed the adequacy of 
the disclosures on the valuation of the investment properties.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included 
in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to 
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and 
fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s 
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made 
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not 
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis 
of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves 
fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within 
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision 
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these 
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing 
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Anthony S.T. Leung.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
22/F, CITIC Tower
1 Tim Mei Avenue
Central, Hong Kong

23 March 2017
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
Year ended 31 December 2016

Notes 2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

REVENUE 5 30,114 34,957

Other income and gains 5 2,411 27,093
Administrative expenses (91,484) (81,073)
Other expenses 6 (35,438) —
Finance costs 8 ( 1,146) ( 1,544)
Share of profit of an associate 121,577 182,428

  
PROFIT BEFORE TAX 7 26,034 161,861

Income tax expense 11 ( 4,186) ( 32)
  

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE
 TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY 21,848 161,829

  
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
 ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY 13

 Basic and diluted HK0.23 cents HK1.74 cents
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year ended 31 December 2016

Notes 2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 21,848 161,829
  

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)

Items that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
 when specific conditions are met:
Changes in fair value of an available-for-sale investment 18 (41,663) 278,623
Share of other comprehensive income/(loss) of an associate (65,489) 24,268

  
(107,152) 302,891

Item that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Surplus on property revaluation upon transfer from
 owner-occupied properties to investment properties 14 49,211 —

  
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR (57,941) 302,891

  
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR
 ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY (36,093) 464,720
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
31 December 2016

Notes 2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property and equipment 14 934 32,678
Investment properties 15 125,600 45,500
Investment in an associate 16 497,293 2,258,714
Loan receivable 17 3,996 4,996
Available-for-sale investment 18 588,494 630,157
Other assets 360 360

  
Total non-current assets 1,216,677 2,972,405

  
CURRENT ASSETS
Listed equity investments at fair value through profit or loss 19 996,865 72,440
Loan receivables 17 1,000 81,000
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 20 4,281 3,458
Time deposits 21 553,119 30,200
Cash and bank balances 21 77,095 8,611

  
Total current assets 1,632,360 195,709

  
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other payables and accruals 22 30,642 20,564
Bank borrowings 23 15,000 44,500
Deferred income 24 — 3,682

  
Total current liabilities 45,642 68,746

  
NET CURRENT ASSETS 1,586,718 126,963

  
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 2,803,395 3,099,368

  
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Deferred tax liabilities 25 4,478 292
Bank borrowing 23 7,500 22,500

  
Total non-current liabilities 11,978 22,792

  
Net assets 2,791,417 3,076,576

  
EQUITY
Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company
Issued capital 26 93,053 93,053
Reserves 27 2,698,364 2,983,523

  
Total equity 2,791,417 3,076,576

  

Cheung Chung Kiu Yuen Wing Shing
Director Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Year ended 31 December 2016

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
Available-

for-sale
Share investment Asset

Issued premium Contributed revaluation revaluation Other Retained Total
Note capital account surplus reserve reserve# reserves## profits equity

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2015 93,053 907,280 760,799 — — 4,873 873,767 2,639,772
Profit for the year — — — — — — 161,829 161,829
Other comprehensive income 
 for the year:
 Changes in fair value of an
  available-for-sale investment — — — 278,623 — — — 278,623
 Share of other comprehensive 
  income of an associate — — — — — 24,268 — 24,268

        
Total comprehensive income 
 for the year — — — 278,623 — 24,268 161,829 464,720
2014 final dividend proposed and paid — — — — — — (27,916) (27,916)

        
At 31 December 2015 and 
 1 January 2016 93,053 907,280* 760,799* 278,623* —* 29,141* 1,007,680* 3,076,576
Profit for the year — — — — — — 21,848 21,848
Other comprehensive income/(loss) 
 for the year:
 Changes in fair value of an
  available-for-sale investment — — — (41,663) — — — (41,663)
 Share of other comprehensive loss of
  an associate — — — — — (65,489) — (65,489)
 Surplus on property revaluation 
  upon transfer from 
  owner-occupied properties to 
  investment properties — — — — 49,211 — — 49,211

        
Total comprehensive income/(loss) 
 for the year — — — (41,663) 49,211 (65,489) 21,848 (36,093)
2015 final dividend proposed and paid 12 — — — — — — (37,221) (37,221)
Share of changes in net assets of
 an associate arising from the 
 distribution in specie of 
 Cross-Harbour shares — — — — — (211,845) — (211,845)

        
At 31 December 2016 93,053 907,280* 760,799* 236,960* 49,211* (248,193)* 992,307* 2,791,417

        

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$2,698,364,000 (2015: HK$2,983,523,000) in the consolidated statement 
of financial position.

# The asset revaluation reserve arose from changes in use from owner-occupied properties to investment properties carried at fair value 
during the year ended 31 December 2016 (note 14 for details).

## The other reserves account comprises the Group’s post-acquisition share of changes in net assets of an associate other than the Group’s 
share of profit or loss.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended 31 December 2016

Notes 2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax 26,034 161,861
Adjustments for:
 Interest on bank borrowings 8 1,146 1,544
 Share of profit of an associate (121,577) (182,428)
 Interest income on bank deposits 5 (1,311) (24)
 Changes in fair value of investment properties 5 (1,100) (1,000)
 Fair value losses/(gains) on listed equity investments
  at fair value through profit or loss, net 5,6 35,438 (26,067)
 Depreciation 7 1,971 2,066
 Write-off of items of property and equipment 14 — 1

  
(59,399) (44,047)

Decrease/(increase) in listed equity investments
 at fair value through profit or loss (391,599) 64,140
Decrease/(increase) in loan receivables 81,000 (78,996)
Increase in prepayments, deposits and other receivables (827) (30)
Decrease/(increase) in interest receivable from loan receivables 38 (47)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and accruals 10,096 (238)
Increase/(decrease) in deferred income (3,682) 3,682

  
Net cash flows used in operating activities (364,373) (55,536)

  
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of items of property and equipment (16) (135)
Interest received from bank deposits 1,277 25
Cash dividend received from an associate 16 1,037,400 9,555
Decrease in pledged time deposits — 9,487

  
Net cash flows from investing activities 1,038,661 18,932
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2016

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Net cash flows from investing activities 1,038,661 18,932
  

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
New bank borrowings 5,000 90,000
Repayment of bank borrowings (49,500) (72,000)
Interest paid (1,164) (1,511)
Dividend paid (37,221) (27,916)

  
Net cash flows used in financing activities (82,885) (11,427)

  
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 591,403 (48,031)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 38,811 86,842

  
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 630,214 38,811

  
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances 77,095 8,611
Non-pledged time deposits with original maturity of
 less than three months when acquired 553,119 30,200

  
630,214 38,811
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Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2016

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
 Yugang International Limited (the “Company”) is a company incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability. The principal 

place of business of the Company is located at Rooms 3301-3307, 33/F., China Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, 
Wanchai, Hong Kong.

 During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) were involved in the following 
principal activities:

(i) treasury management;

(ii) property leasing; and

(iii) trading of scrap metal and other materials.

 Information about subsidiaries
 Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of Issued Percentage of 
equity attributable 

to the Company
incorporation ordinary

Name and business share capital Principal activities
Direct Indirect

Bookman Properties Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$1 — 100 Securities investment
Hong Kong

Chase Create Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$2 — 100 Property leasing

Ferrex Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 — 100 Investment holding

First River Investments Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 — 100 Investment holding

Funrise Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 — 100 Investment holding and
securities investment

Joywell Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 — 100 Investment holding

Maxking Industries Limited Hong Kong HK$2 — 100 Motor vehicle leasing

Maxlord Enterprises Limited Hong Kong HK$2 — 100 Money lending

New Wealth Limited Hong Kong HK$2 — 100 Property leasing

Regulator Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 — 100 Investment holding

Senico Investments Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 — 100 Trading of scrap metal 
and other materials

Time Lander Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 — 100 Property leasing

Top Eagle Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 — 100 Investment holding

Yugang Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$2 — 100 Provision of 
financial services

Yugang International (B.V.I.) Limited British Virgin Islands US$5 100 — Investment holding

Yugang Management Limited Hong Kong HK$2 — 100 Corporate management

 The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results 
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the 
opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2016

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION
 These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) 

(which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and 
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles 
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been 
prepared under the historical cost convention, except for investment properties and equity investments which have been 
measured at fair value. These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and all values are rounded 
to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

 Basis of consolidation
 The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year 

ended 31 December 2016. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the 
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the 
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the 
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

 When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group 
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

 The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent 
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains control, and 
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

 The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one 
or more of the three elements of control described above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss 
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

 If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the 
subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative translation differences recorded 
in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any investment retained and 
(iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be 
required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
The Group has fully assessed and adopted, to the extent that is applicable to the Group, the following new and revised 
HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10, Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception
 HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28 (2011)
Amendments to HKFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations
HKFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative
Amendments to HKAS 16 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation 
 and HKAS 38  and Amortisation
Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 41 Agriculture: Bearer Plants
Amendments to HKAS 27 (2011) Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements
Annual Improvements 2012-2014 Cycle Amendments to a number of HKFRSs

 Except for the amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28 (2011), amendments to HKFRS 11, HKFRS 14, 
amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 41, amendments to HKAS 27 (2011), and certain amendments included in the Annual 
Improvements 2012-2014 Cycle , which are not relevant to the preparation of the Group’s financial statements, the nature 
and the impact of the amendments are described below:
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Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2016

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)
(a) Amendments to HKAS 1 include narrow-focus improvements in respect of the presentation and disclosure in financial 

statements. The amendments clarify:

(i) the materiality requirements in HKAS 1;

(ii) that specific line items in the statement of profit or loss and the statement of financial position may be 
disaggregated;

(iii) that entities have flexibility as to the order in which they present the notes to financial statements; and

(iv) that the share of other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity 
method must be presented in aggregate as a single line item, and classified between those items that will or will 
not be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.

Furthermore, the amendments clarify the requirements that apply when additional subtotals are presented in the 
statement of financial position and the statement of profit or loss. The amendments have had no significant impact on 
the Group’s financial statements.

(b) Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 clarify the principle in HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 that revenue reflects a pattern 
of economic benefits that are generated from operating a business (of which the asset is part) rather than the economic 
benefits that are consumed through the use of the asset. As a result, a revenue-based method cannot be used to depreciate 
property, plant and equipment and may only be used in very limited circumstances to amortise intangible assets. The 
amendments are applied prospectively. The amendments have had no impact on the financial position or performance of 
the Group as the Group has not used a revenue-based method for the calculation of depreciation of its non-current assets.

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS

 The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these 
financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions2

Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with 
 HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts2

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments 2

Amendments to HKFRS 10
 and HKAS 28 (2011)

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
 its Associate or Joint Venture 4

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 2

Amendments to HKFRS 15 Clarifications to HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers2

HKFRS 16 Leases 3

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative 1

Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses 1

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

 Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be applicable to the Group is as follows:

 In September 2014, the HKICPA issued the final version of HKFRS 9, bringing together all phases of the financial 
instruments project to replace HKAS 39 and all previous versions of HKFRS 9. The standard introduces new requirements 
for classification and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 9 from  
1 January 2018. The Group is currently assessing the impact of the standard.

 Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in 
HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate. The amendments 
require a full recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate 
constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the 
transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate. 
The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and 
HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January 2016 and a new mandatory effective date will be determined after 
the completion of a broader review of accounting for associates. However, the amendments are available for application now.
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Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2016

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases , HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease , HK(SIC)-
Int 15 Operating Leases - Incentives  and HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal 
Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases 
and requires lessees to recognise assets and liabilities for most leases. The standard includes two recognition exemptions 
for lessees – leases of low-value assets and short-term leases. At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise 
a liability to make lease payments (i.e., the lease liability) and an asset representing the right to use the underlying asset 
during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use asset). The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any impairment losses unless the right-of-use asset meets the definition of investment property in HKAS 
40. The lease liability is subsequently increased to reflect the interest on the lease liability and reduced for the lease 
payments. Lessees will be required to separately recognise the interest expense on the lease liability and the depreciation 
expense on the right-of-use asset. Lessees will also be required to remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence of 
certain events, such as change in the lease term and change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an index 
or rate used to determine those payments. Lessees will generally recognise the amount of the remeasurement of the lease 
liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from the 
accounting under HKAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify all leases using the same classification principle as in HKAS 
17 and distinguish between operating leases and finance leases. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 16 on 1 January 2019 
and is currently assessing the impact of HKFRS 16 upon adoption.

Amendments to HKAS 7 require an entity to provide disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate 
changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash 
changes. The amendments will result in additional disclosure to be provided in the financial statements. The Group expects 
to adopt the amendments from 1 January 2017.

Amendments to HKAS 12 were issued with the purpose of addressing the recognition of deferred tax assets for unrealised 
losses related to debt instruments measured at fair value, although they also have a broader application for other situations. 
The amendments clarify that an entity, when assessing whether taxable profits will be available against which it can utilise 
a deductible temporary difference, needs to consider whether tax law restricts the sources of taxable profits against which 
it may make deductions on the reversal of that deductible temporary difference. Furthermore, the amendments provide 
guidance on how an entity should determine future taxable profits and explain the circumstances in which taxable profit 
may include the recovery of some assets for more than their carrying amount. The Group expects to adopt the amendments 
from 1 January 2017.

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investment in an associate
An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting 
rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in 
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The Group’s investment in an associate is stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s share of 
net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments are made to bring into line any 
dissimilar accounting policies that may exist. The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other comprehensive 
income of an associate is included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive 
income, respectively. In addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the 
Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised 
gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its associate are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s 
investment in the associate, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred. 
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of an associate is included as part of the Group’s investment in an associate.
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Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2016

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Fair value measurement
 The Group measures its investment properties and equity investments at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair 

value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to 
sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a 
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market 
must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market 
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best 
interest.

 A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic 
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in 
its highest and best use.

 The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to 
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the 
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as 
a whole:

Level 1 – based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 – based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 
is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 – based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 
is unobservable

 For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether 
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

 Impairment of non-financial assets
 Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other than financial 

assets and investment properties), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the 
higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for 
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets 
or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset 
belongs.

 An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to 
the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with the function of the 
impaired asset.

 An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised 
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is 
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a 
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying 
amount that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for 
the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit or loss in the period in 
which it arises.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Related parties
 A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

 or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of 
the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity related 
to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a) (i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key management 
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel services to the 
Group or to the parent of the Group.

 Property and equipment and depreciation
 Property and equipment, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of 

property and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working 
condition and location for its intended use.

 Expenditure incurred after items of property and equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, 
is normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the 
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset 
as a replacement. Where significant parts of property and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group 
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Property and equipment and depreciation (Continued)

 Valuations are performed frequently enough to ensure that the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ materially from 
its carrying amount. Changes in the values of property and equipment are dealt with as movements in the asset revaluation 
reserve. If the total of this reserve is insufficient to cover a deficit, on an individual asset basis, the excess of the deficit is 
charged to the statement of profit or loss. Any subsequent revaluation surplus is credited to the statement of profit or loss to 
the extent of the deficit previously charged. An annual transfer from the asset revaluation reserve to retained profits is made 
for the difference between the depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount of an asset and the depreciation based 
on the asset’s original cost. On disposal of a revalued asset, the relevant portion of the asset revaluation reserve realised in 
respect of previous valuations is transferred to retained profits as a movement in reserves.

 Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of property and equipment to its 
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold land under finance leases Over the lease terms
Buildings 2%
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the lease terms and 20%
Furniture and fixtures 20%
Office equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 20%

 Where parts of an item of property and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a 
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation 
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

 An item of property and equipment including any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when 
no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in 
the statement of profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the relevant asset.

 Investment properties
 Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including the leasehold interest under an operating lease for a 

property which would otherwise meet the definition of an investment property) held to earn rental income and/or for capital 
appreciation, rather than for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes; or for sale 
in the ordinary course of business. Such properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to 
initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting 
period.

 Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment properties are included in the statement of profit or loss 
in the year in which they arise.

 Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised in the statement of profit or loss 
in the year of the retirement or disposal.

 If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts 
for such property in accordance with the policy stated under “Property and equipment and depreciation” up to the date of 
change in use, and any difference at that date between the carrying amount and the fair value of the property is accounted 
for as a revaluation in accordance with the policy stated under “Property and equipment and depreciation” above.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Operating leases
 Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as 

operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under operating leases are included in non-
current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating leases are credited to the statement of profit or loss on the 
straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under the operating leases net of any 
incentives received from the lessor are charged to the statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease 
terms.

 Investments and other financial assets
 Initial recognition and measurement

 Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and 
receivables and available-for-sale financial investments, as appropriate. When financial assets are recognised initially, they 
are measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets, except in the 
case of financial assets recorded at fair value through profit or loss.

 All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group 
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require 
delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

 Subsequent measurement

 The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading. Financial assets are classified as 
held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term.

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with 
positive net changes in fair value presented as other income and gains and negative net changes in fair value presented as 
other expenses in the statement of profit or loss. These net fair value changes do not include any dividends or interest earned 
on these financial assets, which are recognised in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

 Loans and receivables

 Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or 
premium on acquisition and includes fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest 
rate amortisation is included in other income and gains in the statement of profit or loss. The loss arising from impairment is 
recognised in the statement of profit or loss in finance costs for loans and in other expenses for receivables.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

 Available-for-sale financial investment

 Available-for-sale financial investment is a non-derivative financial asset in listed equity investment. Equity investment 
classified as available for sale is neither classified as held for trading nor designated as at fair value through profit or loss.

 After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investment is subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised 
gain or loss recognised as other comprehensive income in the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve until the 
investment is derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss in 
other income, or until the investment is determined to be impaired, when the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from 
the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve to the statement of profit or loss in other gains or losses. Dividends 
earned whilst holding the available-for-sale financial investment are reported as dividend income and are recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss as revenue in accordance with the policy set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

 The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell its available-for-sale financial asset in the near term are still 
appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group is unable to trade this financial asset due to inactive markets, the Group 
may elect to reclassify this financial asset if management has the ability and intention to hold the asset for the foreseeable 
future or until maturity.

 Derecognition of financial assets
 A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily 

derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:

• the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

• the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the 
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) 
the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred 
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it 
evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred 
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to 
recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises 
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and 
obligations that the Group has retained.

 Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original 
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to pay.

 Impairment of financial assets
 The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group 

of financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of 
the asset have an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can 
be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing 
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter 
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the 
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

 Financial assets carried at amortised cost

 For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses whether impairment exists individually for financial 
assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group 
determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant 
or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses 
them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues 
to be, recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

 The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The present 
value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective 
interest rate computed at initial recognition).

 The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the loss is recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount using the rate of interest 
used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables together 
with any associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has 
been realised or has been transferred to the Group.

 If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring 
after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the 
allowance account. If a write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to other expenses in the statement of profit or 
loss.

 Available-for-sale financial investment

 For available-for-sale financial investment, the Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective 
evidence that the investment is impaired.

 If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its cost (net of any principal payment 
and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in the statement of profit or loss, 
is removed from other comprehensive income and recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

 In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale, objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged 
decline in the fair value of an investment below its cost. “Significant” is evaluated against the original cost of the investment 
and “prolonged” against the period in which the fair value has been below its original cost. Where there is evidence of 
impairment, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less 
any impairment loss on that investment previously recognised in the statement of profit or loss – is removed from other 
comprehensive income and recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Impairment losses on equity instruments classified 
as available for sale are not reversed through the statement of profit or loss. Increases in their fair value after impairment are 
recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

 The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires judgement. In making this judgement, the Group 
evaluates, among other factors, the duration or extent to which the fair value of an investment is less than its cost.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Financial liabilities
 Initial recognition and measurement

 Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and borrowings.

 All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and net of directly attributable transaction costs.

 The Group’s financial liabilities include other payables and accruals and bank borrowings.

 Subsequent measurement of loans and borrowings

 After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the 
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. 
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the 
effective interest rate amortisation process.

 Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an 
integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the statement 
of profit or loss.

 Derecognition of financial liabilities
 A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

 When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the 
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of 
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the respective carrying amounts is 
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

 Offsetting of financial instruments
 Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial position if 

there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, 
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

 Cash and cash equivalents
 For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand 

deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less bank 
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

 For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at 
banks, including term deposits, which are not restricted as to use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Provisions
A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is 
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of the 
reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted 
present value amount arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

 Income tax
 Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised 

outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

 Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation 
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting 
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

 Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

 Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

• when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a 
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or 
loss; and

• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and an associate, when the 
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any 
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 
against which the deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be 
utilised, except:

• when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of an 
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither 
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

• in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and an associate, deferred 
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the 
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that 
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be 
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent 
that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be 
recovered.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Income tax (Continued)

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is 
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
end of the reporting period.

 Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

 Revenue recognition
 Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be 

measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer, 
provided that the Group maintains neither managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership, 
nor effective control over the goods sold;

(b) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease terms;

(c) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts 
the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the 
financial asset;

(d) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive payment has been established; and

(e) gain or loss on the disposal of listed securities, on the trade date.

 Employee benefits
 Retirement benefit scheme

 The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) 
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees. Contributions are made based on a 
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable in 
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group 
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed 
into the MPF Scheme.

 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs 
that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

 Dividends
Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.

 Foreign currencies
 These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in 

the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured 
using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded 
using their respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the 
reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement of profit 
or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Foreign currencies (Continued)

 Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated 
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the 
item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or 
profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
 The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 

that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the 
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could 
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

 The major judgements, estimates and assumptions that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements and have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year are set out below:

 Impairment of investment in an associate
 The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment of the investment in an associate at the end of each 

reporting period. Investment in an associate is tested for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying amount 
may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its 
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the 
fair value less costs of disposal is based on available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of 
similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations 
are undertaken, management estimates the expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and chooses a 
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

 Estimation of fair value of investment properties
 The fair values of the Group’s investment properties are assessed by management based on the property valuation 

performed by independent professionally qualified valuers on an open market, existing use basis. The assumptions adopted 
in the property valuation are based on market conditions existing at each reporting date, with reference to comparable sales 
transactions and where appropriate, on the basis of capitalisation of the net income after allowances for outgoings and in 
some cases provisions for reversionary income potential.

 Impairment of an available-for-sale financial asset
 The Group classifies an equity investment as available for sale and recognises movement in its fair value in equity. When 

the fair value declines, management makes assumptions about the decline in value to determine whether there is an 
impairment that should be recognised in the statement of profit or loss. This determination requires significant judgement. 
In making this judgement, the Group evaluates, among other factors, the duration and extent to which the fair value of 
an investment is less than its original cost; and the financial health of and short term business outlook for the investee, 
including factors such as industry and sector performance, changes in technology and operational and financing cash flows.

 For the year ended 31 December 2016, there was no impairment (2015: Nil) recognised in the statement of profit or loss for 
an available-for-sale investment.

 At 31 December 2016, the carrying amount of an available-for-sale investment was HK$588,494,000 (2015: 
HK$630,157,000).
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on their products and services and has three 
reportable segments as follows:

(a) The treasury management segment which trades and holds debt and equity securities, earns interest and dividend 
income from the relevant securities investments, earns dividend income from an available-for-sale investment and 
generates interest income from the provision of financing services.

(b) The property and infrastructure investment segment which consists of investments through Y. T. Realty Group 
Limited (“Y. T. Realty”), an associate of the Group, in properties for rental income and/or capital appreciation 
potential; and in an associate of Y. T. Realty (the “Y. T. Realty Associate”) which holds two tunnels in Hong Kong 
generating toll revenue. In November 2016, Y. T. Realty had completed a distribution in specie of the shares in the  
Y. T. Realty Associate to its shareholders. Upon receipt of its portion of distribution, the Group ceased to engage in 
the infrastructure investment.

(c) The property leasing segment which consists of the leasing of properties directly owned by the Group for rental 
income and/or capital appreciation potential.

The Group has reclassified “Other” segment as the “Property leasing” segment during the year. As the Group has changed 
the use of some of its properties from owner-occupied properties to investment properties during the year, the aggregate 
carrying amount of investment properties owned by the Group became significant and the Group considers that property 
leasing activities will become predominant in the Group’s segment reporting. In the opinion of the directors, this change 
in the classification of “Other’’ segment into the “Property leasing” segment results in a more appropriate presentation 
of the segment results and provides more relevant information about the performance of the Group’s operating segment. 
Accordingly, comparative amounts have been restated to conform with the current year’s presentation and disclosures.

The management of the Company monitors the operating results of the Group’s business units separately for the purpose 
of making decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on 
operating profit or loss which in certain respects, as explained in the table below, is measured differently from operating 
profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements.

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments, together with their restated comparative information, is presented 
below:

Year ended 31 December 2016

Property and Reportable
Treasury infrastructure Property segments Adjustments

management investment leasing total (Note) Consolidated
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Segment revenue:
 Revenue 28,714 66,653 1,400 96,767 (66,653) 30,114
 Other income and gains 1,311 138,473 1,100 140,884 (138,473) 2,411

      
Total revenue and gains 30,025 205,126 2,500 237,651 (205,126) 32,525

      
Segment profit/(loss) for the year (88,121) 356,112 1,129 269,120 (234,535) 34,585

     
Corporate and unallocated
 expenses, net (12,737)

 
Profit for the year 21,848
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2016 (Continued)

Property and Corporate
Treasury infrastructure Property  and

management investment leasing unallocated Consolidated
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Other segment information:
Share of profit of an associate — 121,577 — — 121,577
Investment in an associate — 497,293 — — 497,293
Capital expenditure — — — 16 16
Depreciation — — 8 1,963 1,971
Interest income 9,307 — — — 9,307
Interest expense 1,146 — — — 1,146

     

Year ended 31 December 2015

Property and Reportable
Treasury infrastructure Property segments Adjustments

management investment leasing total (Note) Consolidated
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)

Segment revenue:
 Revenue 33,461 218,691 1,496 253,648 (218,691) 34,957
 Other income and gains 26,091 138,743 1,002 165,836 (138,743) 27,093

      
Total revenue and gains 59,552 357,434 2,498 419,484 (357,434) 62,050

      
Segment profit/(loss) for the year (12,057) 534,352 1,273 523,568 (351,924) 171,644

     
Corporate and unallocated
 expenses, net ( 9,815)

 
Profit for the year 161,829

 

Property and Corporate 
Treasury infrastructure Property and

management investment leasing unallocated Consolidated
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Other segment information:
Share of profit of an associate — 182,428 — — 182,428
Investment in an associate — 2,258,714 — — 2,258,714
Capital expenditure — — — 135 135
Depreciation — — 8 2,058 2,066
Interest income 6,234 — — — 6,234
Interest expense 1,544 — — — 1,544

     

Note: The activities of the property and infrastructure investment segment are carried on through an associate of the Group and therefore, 
the entire revenue and gains of this reportable segment and its profit for the year not attributable to the Group are adjusted to arrive 
at the Group’s consolidated revenue and gains and consolidated profit for the year.

 The Group’s revenue is set out in note 5 to the financial statements.

 The Group’s revenue is derived solely from its operations in Hong Kong, and the non-current assets of the Group are 
located in Hong Kong.
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
Revenue represents the aggregate of the net gains or losses on disposal of listed equity investments at fair value through 
profit or loss, dividend income from listed equity investments at fair value through profit or loss and an available-for-
sale investment, interest income from loan receivables, and gross rental income received and receivable from investment 
properties during the year.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue, other income and gains is as follows:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue
Gains on disposal of listed equity investments
 at fair value through profit or loss, net (note) — 13,301
Dividend income from listed equity investments
 at fair value through profit or loss 6,396 930
Dividend income from an available-for-sale investment 14,322 13,020
Interest income from loan receivables 7,996 6,210
Gross rental income 1,400 1,496

  
30,114 34,957

  
Other income and gains
Interest income on bank deposits 1,311 24
Fair value gains on listed equity investments
 at fair value through profit or loss, net — 26,067
Fair value gains on investment properties (note 15) 1,100 1,000
Others — 2

  
2,411 27,093

  

Note: No sales of listed equity investments at fair value through profit or loss were made during the year ended 31 December 2016. The 
gross proceeds from the sale of listed equity investments at fair value through profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2015 
were approximately HK$83,241,000.

6. OTHER EXPENSES

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Fair value losses on listed equity investments
 at fair value through profit or loss, net 35,438 —
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7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Depreciation (note 14) 1,971 2,066
Minimum lease payments under operating leases 5,270 7,992
Auditor’s remuneration 1,465 1,400
Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration (note 9)):
 Wages and salaries 60,025 50,966
 Pension scheme contributions 629 636

  
60,654 51,602

  
Foreign exchange differences, net 27 ( 2)
Direct operating expenses (including repairs and maintenance)
 arising from rental-earning investment properties 63 18

  

8. FINANCE COSTS
2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest on bank borrowings 1,146 1,544
  

9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock 
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) issued by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), section 
383(1) (a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information 
about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Fees 1,960 1,920

Other emoluments:
 Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 16,592 15,938
 Discretionary bonuses 13,630 8,500
 Pension scheme contributions 72 72

  
30,294 24,510

  
32,254 26,430

  

(a) Independent non-executive directors
 The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the year were as follows:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Mr. Luk Yu King, James 450 430
Mr. Ng Kwok Fu 230 220
Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven 230 220

  
910 870

  

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent non-executive directors during the year (2015: Nil).
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9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b) Executive directors and a non-executive director
Salaries,

allowances Pension
and benefits Discretionary scheme Total

Fees in kind bonuses contributions remuneration
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2016

Executive directors:
 Mr. Cheung Chung Kiu — 6,480 8,000 18 14,498
 Mr. Yuen Wing Shing — 4,920 2,300 18 7,238
 Mr. Lam Hiu Lo — 1,947 1,250 18 3,215
 Mr. Zhang Qing Xin — 1,817 1,350 — 3,167
 Mr. Liang Kang — 1,428 730 18 2,176

     
— 16,592 13,630 72 30,294

     
Non-executive director:
 Mr. Lee Ka Sze, Carmelo 1,050 — — — 1,050

     
1,050 16,592 13,630 72 31,344

     
2015

Executive directors:
 Mr. Cheung Chung Kiu — 6,210 4,000 18 10,228
 Mr. Yuen Wing Shing — 4,655 1,300 18 5,973
 Mr. Lam Hiu Lo — 1,904 1,200 18 3,122
 Mr. Zhang Qing Xin — 1,768 1,300 — 3,068
 Mr. Liang Kang — 1,401 700 18 2,119

     
— 15,938 8,500 72 24,510

     
Non-executive director:
 Mr. Lee Ka Sze, Carmelo 1,050 — — — 1,050

     
1,050 15,938 8,500 72 25,560

     

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2015: Nil).

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
The five highest paid employees during the year included three (2015: three) directors, details of whose remuneration are 
set out in note 9 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining two (2015: two) non-director, highest paid 
employees are as follows:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 5,832 5,281
Discretionary bonuses 3,500 2,000
Pension scheme contributions 36 36

  
9,368 7,317
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10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued)

The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

Number of employees

2016 2015

HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 — 1
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 1 —
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 — 1
HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 1 —

  
2 2

  

11. INCOME TAX
2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

Deferred tax charge for the year (note 25) 4,186 32
  

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax at the statutory rate to the tax expense at the effective tax 
rate is as follows:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit before tax 26,034 161,861
  

Tax at the statutory tax rate 4,296 26,707
Profit attributable to an associate (20,060) (30,101)
Income not subject to tax (3,817) (2,815)
Additional expenses subject to tax — 4,783
Expenses not deductible for tax 1,185 1,423
Tax losses not recognised 22,454 43
Tax losses utilised from previous years (88) (172)
Others 216 164

  
Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate 4,186 32

  

The share of tax attributable to an associate amounting to HK$3,511,000 (2015: HK$9,549,000) is included in “Share of 
profit of an associate” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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12. DIVIDEND
2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

Proposed final dividend – HK$0.002 (2015: HK$0.004) per ordinary share 18,611 37,221
  

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual 
general meeting. No interim dividend was declared in respect of the current and the prior years.

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY 
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY
The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity 
holders of the Company and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per share amounts presented for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 
2015 as the Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue during the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are based on:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Earnings
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company
 used in the basic and diluted earnings per share calculations 21,848 161,829

  

Number of shares

2016 2015

Shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares
 in issue during the year used in the basic and
 diluted earnings per share calculations 9,305,276,756 9,305,276,756
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14. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Land and Leasehold Furniture Office Motor
buildings improvements and fixtures equipment vehicles Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

31 December 2016

At 31 December 2015 and 1 January 2016:
 Cost 44,385 2,761 4,780 3,059 10,861 65,846
 Accumulated depreciation (13,880) (2,761) (4,768) (2,861) (8,898) (33,168)

      
 Net carrying amount 30,505 — 12 198 1,963 32,678

      
At 1 January 2016, net of accumulated depreciation 30,505 — 12 198 1,963 32,678
Additions — — — 16 — 16
Depreciation provided during the year (716) — (8) (58) (1,189) (1,971)
Surplus on property revaluation upon transfer 
 to investment properties 49,211 — — — — 49,211
Transfer to investment properties (note 15) (79,000) — — — — (79,000)

      
At 31 December 2016, net of 
 accumulated depreciation — — 4 156 774 934

      
At 31 December 2016:
 Cost — 1,969 4,179 2,937 10,861 19,946
 Accumulated depreciation — (1,969) (4,175) (2,781) (10,087) (19,012)

      
 Net carrying amount — — 4 156 774 934

      
31 December 2015

At 1 January 2015:
 Cost 44,385 2,761 4,779 2,964 10,861 65,750
 Accumulated depreciation (13,165) (2,761) (4,760) (2,851) (7,603) (31,140)

      
 Net carrying amount 31,220 — 19 113 3,258 34,610

      
At 1 January 2015, net of accumulated depreciation 31,220 — 19 113 3,258 34,610
Additions — — 1 134 — 135
Write-off — — — (1) — (1)
Depreciation provided during the year (715) — (8) (48) (1,295) (2,066)

      
At 31 December 2015, net of 
 accumulated depreciation 30,505 — 12 198 1,963 32,678

      
At 31 December 2015:
 Cost 44,385 2,761 4,780 3,059 10,861 65,846
 Accumulated depreciation (13,880) (2,761) (4,768) (2,861) (8,898) (33,168)

      
 Net carrying amount 30,505 — 12 198 1,963 32,678

      

At 31 December 2015, certain of the Group’s land and buildings with an aggregate carrying amount of approximately 
HK$24,839,000 were pledged to banks to secure banking facilities granted to the Group (note 30(b)) .
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

Carrying amount at 1 January 45,500 44,500
Transfer from owner-occupied properties (note 14) 79,000 —
Gain from a fair value adjustment (note 5) 1,100 1,000

  
Carrying amount at 31 December 125,600 45,500

  

The Group’s investment properties as at 31 December 2016 consist of three (2015: three) industrial properties and four 
(2015: Nil) residential properties in Hong Kong. The directors of the Company have determined that the investment 
properties consist of two classes of asset, i.e., industrial and residential, based on the nature, characteristics and risks of 
each property. The Group’s investment properties were revalued on 31 December 2016 based on valuations performed by 
Savills Valuation and Professional Services Limited, independent professionally qualified valuers, at HK$125,600,000. 
Each year, the Group’s management decides to appoint which external valuer to be responsible for the external valuations 
of the Group’s properties. Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation, independence and whether professional 
standards are maintained.

The investment properties are leased to third parties under operating leases, further summary details of which are included 
in note 28(a) to the financial statements.

At 31 December 2016, the Group’s investment properties with an aggregate carrying value of HK$109,300,000 (2015: 
HK$45,500,000) were pledged to banks to secure banking facilities granted to the Group (note 30(a)) .

 Fair value hierarchy
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties:

Fair value measurement 
as at 31 December 2016 using   

Quoted
prices in Significant Significant

active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Recurring fair value measurement for:

 Industrial properties — 46,600 — 46,600
 Residential properties — 79,000 — 79,000

    
— 125,600 — 125,600
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

 Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Fair value measurement 
as at 31 December 2015 using   

Quoted
prices in Significant Significant

active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Recurring fair value measurement for:

 Industrial properties — 45,500 — 45,500
    

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or 
out of Level 3 (2015: Nil).

Below is a summary of the valuation technique used and the key input to the valuation of investment properties:

Valuation technique Significant observable input

Industrial properties Direct comparison approach Estimated market value per sq.m.

Residential properties Direct comparison approach Estimated market value per sq.m.

16. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE
2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

Carrying amount 497,293 2,258,714
  

Market value of listed shares 786,240 1,610,700
  

Particulars of the associate are as follows:

Percentage of
ownership

Particulars Place of interest
of issued incorporation attributable

Name shares held and business to the Group

Y. T. Realty Group Limited (“Y. T. Realty”) Ordinary shares Bermuda/ 34.14
Hong Kong

Y. T. Realty is an investment holding company, incorporated in Bermuda and listed in Hong Kong, with its subsidiaries 
engaged in property investment and property trading. This associate has been accounted for using the equity method in these 
consolidated financial statements.
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16. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

Extracts of the consolidated results and consolidated financial position of Y. T. Realty are as follows:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Consolidated results

Revenue 66,653 218,691
Other income 83,214 1,608
Total expenses (15,683) (57,550)
Changes in fair value of investment properties 55,259 137,135
Share of profit of an associate 176,198 258,200
Share of profit of a joint venture 756 4,238
Income tax expense (10,285) (27,970)

  
Profit attributable to shareholders 356,112 534,352
Other comprehensive income/(loss) (192,163) 71,082

  
Total comprehensive income 163,949 605,434

  
Consolidated financial position

Non-current assets
 Investment properties 1,093,054 4,099,900
 Investment in an associate — 2,236,514
 Investment in a joint venture — 119,665
 Other non-current assets 1,665 3,119

  
1,094,719 6,459,198

Current assets 392,705 424,741
Current liabilities (27,026) (183,530)
Non-current liabilities (3,768) (84,390)

  
Net assets 1,456,630 6,616,019

  
Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in Y. T. Realty:
Proportion of the Group’s ownership 34.14% 34.14%
Group’s share of net assets of Y. T. Realty and carrying amount 
 of the investment in Y. T. Realty 497,293 2,258,714

  
Cash dividend received from Y. T. Realty 1,037,400 9,555
Non-cash dividend from Y. T. Realty (note) 568,264 —

  
Total dividends received from Y. T. Realty 1,605,664 9,555

  

Note:

At a special general meeting held on 14 November 2016, the shareholders of Y. T. Realty approved a special dividend satisfied by a 
distribution in specie of approximately 41.66% of the issued capital of its associate, The Cross-Harbour (Holdings) Limited (“Cross-
Harbour”) to the qualifying shareholders of Y. T. Realty. The shares of Cross-Harbour received by the Group were accounted for as a 
reduction in the carrying amount of the investment in an associate and an addition to equity investments at fair value through profit or loss.
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17. LOAN RECEIVABLES
Notes 2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

Secured (ii) — 80,000
Unsecured (iii) 4,996 5,996

  
4,996 85,996

  
Current portion 1,000 81,000
Non-current portion 3,996 4,996

  
4,996 85,996

  

Notes:

(i) Loan receivables represent receivables arising from the Group’s money lending business and are stated at amortised cost.

(ii) The secured loan receivables as at 31 December 2015 were from two customers. One of these receivables was interest-bearing at 1% 
per month and was fully repaid in 2016. Another receivable bore interest at 2% per month and was fully repaid in 2016.

(iii) The unsecured loan receivable is repayable by an equal amount of the annual instalment over the remaining term of five (2015: six) 
years. In view of the fact that the customer had good record of repayment history and is a creditworthy person with no history of 
default, the directors of the Company are of the opinion that there was no significant credit risk.

18. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENT
2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

Listed equity investment, at fair value 588,494 630,157
  

Particulars of the Group’s available-for-sale investment at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Issued Percentage of
Place of and paid-up ownership interest

Name incorporation share capital attributable to the Group

2016 2015

C C Land Holdings Limited Bermuda HK$258,822,000 10.06 10.06

During the year, the gross loss in respect of the Group’s available-for-sale investment recognised in other comprehensive 
income amounted to HK$41,663,000 (2015: a gross gain of HK$278,623,000).

The above investment represents investment in equity securities which was designated as available-for-sale financial asset 
and has no fixed maturity date or coupon rate.

The market value of the Group’s listed available-for-sale investment at the date of approval of these financial statements 
was approximately HK$539,019,000.
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19. LISTED EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT 
OR LOSS

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Listed equity investments, at market value 996,865 72,440
  

The market value of the Group’s listed equity investments at fair value through profit or loss at the date of approval of these 
financial statements was approximately HK$1,012,909,000.

Particulars of the investments that exceed 10% of the Group’s total assets at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Issued Percentage of
Place of and paid-up ownership interest

Name incorporation share capital attributable to the Group

2016 2015

Cross-Harbour (Holdings) Limited Hong Kong HK$1,629,461,000 14.22 —

20. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

Prepayments 2,160 1,232
Deposits 1,403 1,356
Other receivables 718 870

  
4,281 3,458

  

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. The financial assets included in the above balances relate to 
receivables for which there was no recent history of default.

21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for 
varying periods from one day to three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest 
at the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances and deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with 
no recent history of default.
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22. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

Other payables 307 706
Accruals 29,592 19,478
Rental deposits received 743 380

  
30,642 20,564

  

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and repayable on demand.

23. BANK BORROWINGS
2016 2015

Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity HK$’000 rate (%) Maturity HK$’000

Current
Bank borrowings – secured 2.65 March 2017 - 15,000 2.09 - 2.20 January 2016 - 44,500

December 2017 December 2016

Non-current
Bank borrowing – secured 2.65 March 2018 - 7,500 2.15 March 2017 - 22,500

June 2018 June 2018
  

22,500 67,000
  

Analysed into:
 Bank borrowings repayable:
  Within one year or on demand 15,000 44,500
  In the second year 7,500 15,000
  In the third to fifth years, inclusive — 7,500

  
22,500 67,000

  

As at 31 December 2016, the bank borrowing is denominated in Hong Kong dollars and secured by one of the Group’s 
investment properties with a carrying value of HK$14,600,000. The bank borrowings as at 31 December 2015 were 
secured by the Group’s investment properties and certain leasehold land and buildings with aggregate carrying values of 
HK$45,500,000 and HK$24,839,000, respectively.

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had a term bank loan of HK$22,500,000 (2015: HK$37,000,000), of which 
HK$7,500,000 (2015: HK$22,500,000) was classified under non-current portion and was subject to a repayment on demand 
clause after 31 January 2018 (2015: 31 January 2017).

24. DEFERRED INCOME
As at 31 December 2015, deferred income represented interest income received in advance on the loan receivables from 
borrowers.
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25. DEFERRED TAX
The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the year are as follows:

 Deferred tax liabilities
Unrealised fair

value gain arising
from listed equity Depreciation
investment at fair allowance in

value through excess of related
profit or loss depreciation Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Gross deferred tax liabilities at 1 January 2015 6,025 742 6,767
Deferred tax credited to the consolidated statement
 of profit or loss during the year (note 11) (4,783) (144) (4,927)

   
Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 December 2015
 and 1 January 2016 1,242 598 1,840
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to the consolidated statement
 of profit or loss during the year (note 11) 4,209 (88) 4,121

   
Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 December 2016 5,451 510 5,961

   

 Deferred tax assets
Losses available

for offsetting
against future
taxable profits

HK$’000

Gross deferred tax assets at 1 January 2015 6,507
Deferred tax charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss during the year (note 11) (4,959)

 
Gross deferred tax assets at 31 December 2015 and 1 January 2016 1,548
Deferred tax charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss during the year (note 11) (65)

 
Gross deferred tax assets at 31 December 2016 1,483

 

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset in the consolidated statement of 
financial position. The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the
 consolidated statement of financial position 4,478 292

  

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of HK$1,141,234,000 (2015: HK$1,011,342,000) that are available 
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets have 
not been recognised in respect of these losses as it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be available against 
which the tax losses can be utilised.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.
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26. SHARE CAPITAL

 Shares
2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

Authorised:
 50,000,000,000 (2015: 50,000,000,000) ordinary shares
  of HK$0.01 each 500,000 500,000

  
Issued and fully paid:
 9,305,276,756 (2015: 9,305,276,756) ordinary shares
  of HK$0.01 each 93,053 93,053

  

 Share options
The Company’s share option scheme which was adopted on 29 April 2005 (the “Old Scheme”) expired on 28 April 2015. 
The Company did not have any outstanding options granted or remained valid under the Old Scheme. On 21 May 2015, 
the Company adopted a new share option scheme (the “New Scheme”). The purpose of the New Scheme is to provide the 
Company with a flexible means of giving incentive to rewarding, remunerating, compensating and/or providing benefits to 
the employees and to serve such other purposes as the directors may approve from time to time.

Employees (including directors) of the Group are included in the eligible participants under the New Scheme. A total of 
930,527,675 shares will be available for issue under the New Scheme, which represented 10% of the Company’s issued 
share capital at the end of the reporting period. Each participant cannot be entitled to more than 1% of the total number of 
shares in issue in any 12-month period. The option shall end, in any event, not later than 10 years from the date of grant of 
the option subject to the provision for early termination set out in the New Scheme. The New Scheme remains in force until 
20 May 2025. No option has been granted under the New Scheme since the adoption of the New Scheme.

27. RESERVES
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the current and prior years are presented in the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

28. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

(a) As lessor
The Group leases its investment properties (note 15) under operating lease arrangements, with leases negotiated for 
terms ranging from two years to three years (2015: two years). The terms of the leases generally also require the 
tenants to pay security deposits and provide for periodic rent adjustments according to the then prevailing market 
conditions.

At 31 December 2016, the Group had total future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable operating leases 
falling due as follows:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 3,664 886
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 3,681 —

  
7,345 886
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28. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS (Continued)

(b) As lessee
The Group leases certain of its office properties and car parks under operating lease arrangements. Leases for these 
properties are negotiated for terms ranging from one year to three years.

At 31 December 2016, the Group had total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases 
falling due as follows:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 1,821 1,009
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 2,817 —

  
4,638 1,009

  

29. COMMITMENTS
At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not have any significant commitments (2015: Nil).

30. BANKING FACILITIES
At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s banking facilities were secured by:

(a) pledges of certain of the Group’s investment properties with an aggregate carrying value of HK$109,300,000 (2015: 
HK$45,500,000) as at 31 December 2016;

(b) pledges of certain of the Group’s land and buildings with an aggregate carrying value of HK$24,839,000 as at  
31 December 2015; and

(c) corporate guarantees issued by the Company.

31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Short term employee benefits 30,222 24,438
Post-employment benefits 72 72

  
Total compensation paid to key management personnel 30,294 24,510

  

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note 9 to these financial statements.

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
Except for an available-for-sale investment and listed equity investments at fair value through profit or loss which are 
measured at fair value, other financial assets and liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 were loans and 
receivables, and financial liabilities at amortised cost, respectively.
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33. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL 
INSTRUMENTS
Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and bank balances, time deposits, financial assets included in 
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, the current portion of loan receivables, financial liabilities included in other 
payables and accruals, and the current portion of bank borrowings approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the 
short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged 
in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of loan receivables and a bank borrowing have been calculated by discounting 
the expected future cash flows using rates currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining 
maturity. The Group’s own non-performance risk for the bank borrowing as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 was assessed to 
be insignificant.

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted market prices.

 Fair value hierarchy
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

 Assets measured at fair value:

Fair value measurement using

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 31 December 2016

Available-for-sale investment 588,494 — — 588,494
Listed equity investments at fair
 value through profit or loss 996,865 — — 996,865

    
1,585,359 — — 1,585,359

    
As at 31 December 2015

Available-for-sale investment 630,157 — — 630,157
Listed equity investments at fair
 value through profit or loss 72,440 — — 72,440

    
702,597 — — 702,597

    

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair value as at 31 December 2016 (2015: Nil).

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or 
out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial liabilities (2015: Nil).
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The Group’s principal financial instruments include equity investments, loan receivables, bank borrowings, time deposits 
and cash and bank balances. Details of the major financial instruments and the Group’s accounting policies in relation to 
them are disclosed in note 2.4 to the financial statements.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk, equity 
price risk and liquidity risk. The policies for managing each of these risks are summarised below.

 Interest rate risk
The Group does not have any significant exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates, and therefore it does not 
use derivative financial instruments to hedge its debt obligations and receivables.

The Group received interest income principally from its portfolio of loan receivables and short term bank deposits. The 
aggregate carrying amount of these financial assets with floating interest rates was approximately HK$635 million (2015: 
HK$45 million) as at 31 December 2016. Assuming that the balances have been held at a constant level and there has been 
an average increase in the interest rate of 25 (2015: 25) basis points for the year ended 31 December 2016, the interest 
income of the Group would have increased by HK$1.6 million (2015: HK$0.1 million).

The Group incurs interest expense principally from its bank borrowings with floating interest rates. Assuming that bank 
borrowings outstanding as at the end of the reporting period have been outstanding for the whole year, with all other 
variables held constant, a 25 (2015: 25) basis point increase in interest rates at 31 December 2016 would have increased the 
interest expense of the Group by HK$0.1 million (2015: HK$0.2 million).

 Foreign currency risk
The Group has transactional currency exposures as approximately 4% (2015: 7%) of the operating expenses for the year 
were denominated in United States dollars. The Group has translational currency exposures because 1% (2015: 21%) of the 
cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2016 were denominated in United States dollars. The Group considers that 
the above currency exposures are insignificant as the Hong Kong dollar is pegged to the United States dollar. The Group 
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, management monitors foreign exchange exposure and 
will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

 Credit risk
The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy customers. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to 
trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, trade and other receivables are monitored on 
an ongoing basis to ensure follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not 
significant. The Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual debtor at the end of the reporting period to ensure 
that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.

The Group has established a credit committee (the “Committee”) to manage the credit risk with respect to the loan 
receivables of the Group. The Committee reviews the credit standing and assesses credit risk exposures of each borrower. 
In order to mitigate this risk, the Group has formulated a credit policy governing the control of credit risk, including the 
requirement for collateral, if necessary. In this regard, the directors consider that the credit risk is significantly reduced and 
controlled.
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

 Equity price risk
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity 
indices and the values of individual securities. The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from equity investments at 
fair value through profit or loss and available-for-sale investment as at the end of the reporting period. The Group’s listed 
investments are listed on the Stock Exchange and are valued at quoted market prices as at the end of the reporting period.

The market equity index for the Stock Exchange, at the close of business of the nearest trading day in the year to the end of 
the reporting period, and its highest and lowest points during the year were as follows:

31 December High/low 31 December High/low
2016 2016 2015 2015

Hong Kong - Hang Seng Index 22,000 24,364/ 21,914 28,588/
18,278 20,368

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to change in the fair values of the equity investments, with all other 
variables held constant and before any impact on tax, based on their carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period. 
For the purpose of this analysis, for the available-for-sale investment, the impact is deemed to be on the available-for-
sale investment revaluation reserve and no account is given for factors such as impairment which might impact on the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The sensitivity analysis is made based on a 10% increase in Hang Seng Index of Hong Kong (2015: decrease of 15%) 
anticipated as at the end of the reporting period and an estimated value of beta of the investment portfolios of the Group.

Increase/
Carrying Increase/ (decrease)

amount (decrease) in other
of listed equity in profit components

investments before tax of equity
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2016

Listed equity investments at fair value through profit or loss 996,865 31,527 —
Available-for-sale investment 588,494 — 19,404

  
Total 31,527 19,404

  
2015

Listed equity investments at fair value through profit or loss 72,440 (27,550) —
Available-for-sale investment 630,157 — (114,625)

  
Total (27,550) (114,625)

  

The Group’s management manages the above exposure by maintaining a well-diversified portfolio with different risk 
profiles.
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

 Liquidity risk
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of interest-
bearing bank borrowings.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual 
undiscounted payments and ignoring the effect of any repayment on demand clause, was as follows:

Less than 3 to less than 1 to 5
On demand 3 months 12 months years Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 31 December 2016
Other payables and accruals 29,899 — — 743 30,642
Bank borrowing — 3,775 11,474 7,773 23,022

     
29,899 3,775 11,474 8,516 53,664

     
As at 31 December 2015
Other payables and accruals 20,184 — 380 — 20,564
Bank borrowings — 33,547 11,180 23,410 68,137

     
20,184 33,547 11,560 23,410 88,701

     

 Capital management
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy 
capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions. To 
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders or issue new shares. No 
changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years ended 31 December 2016 
and 2015.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by equity attributable to equity holders of the 
Company. Net debt includes bank borrowings, other payables and accruals, less time deposits and cash and bank balances. 
The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Bank borrowings 22,500 67,000
Other payables and accruals 30,642 20,564
Less: Time deposits and cash and bank balances (630,214) (38,811)

  
Net debt/(net cash) (577,072) 48,753

  
Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company 2,791,417 3,076,576

  
Gearing ratio N/A 1.58%

  



YUGANG INTERNATIONAL LIMITED   Annual Report 2016 87

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2016

35. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
On 14 March 2017, the Group entered into two acquisition agreements with an independent third party to acquire two floors 
of a commercial building in Hong Kong, at a total consideration of HK$280,700,000. The acquisitions are expected to be 
completed on or before 14 June 2017. Further details of the acquisitions are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 
14 March 2017.

36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

Notes 2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Investments in subsidiaries (a) 1,877,251 1,915,784

  
CURRENT ASSETS
Prepayments 787 789
Cash and bank balances 1,602 1,414

  
Total current assets 2,389 2,203

  
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other payables and accruals 2,206 167

  
NET CURRENT ASSETS 183 2,036

  
Net assets 1,877,434 1,917,820

  
EQUITY
Issued capital 93,053 93,053
Reserves (b) 1,784,381 1,824,767

  
Total equity 1,877,434 1,917,820
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Notes:

(a) Investments in subsidiaries

 Information about the investments in subsidiaries of the Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted shares, at cost 105,759 105,759
Amounts due from subsidiaries 1,771,492 1,810,025

  
1,877,251 1,915,784

  

The amounts due from subsidiaries included in the investments in subsidiaries above are unsecured, interest-free and have no 
fixed terms of repayment. In the opinion of the Company’s directors, these advances are considered as quasi-equity loans to the 
subsidiaries.

(b) Reserves

Information about the reserves of the Company at the end of the reporting year is as follows:

Share
premium Contributed Retained Total

account surplus profits equity
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2015 907,280 839,108 32,031 1,778,419

Total comprehensive income for the year — — 74,264 74,264
2014 final dividend proposed and paid — — (27,916) (27,916)

    
At 31 December 2015 and 1 January 2016 907,280 839,108 78,379 1,824,767

Total comprehensive loss for the year — — (3,165) (3,165)
2015 final dividend proposed and paid — — (37,221) (37,221)

    
At 31 December 2016 907,280 839,108 37,993 1,784,381

    

The contributed surplus of the Company originally represented the excess of the net asset values of the subsidiaries 
acquired over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued for their acquisition at the time of the reorganisation 
in preparation for the listing of the Company’s shares in 1993. Under the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 (as amended 
from time to time), the contributed surplus may be distributed to shareholders under certain circumstances.

37. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 23 March 2017.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
Attributable

interest of
Location Use Tenure the Group

Workshop Nos. 1, 2 and 7 on 4/F,
Kodak House II, 39 Healthy Street East,
North Point, Hong Kong Industrial Long-term 100%

Flat No. 16 on 18/F, Flat No. 18 on 37/F, 
Flat No. 17 on 39/F and Flat No. 11 on 42/F,
Apartment Tower on the Western Side, 
Convention Plaza, No. 1 Harbour Road, 
Wanchai, Hong Kong Residential Medium-term 100%
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Five Year Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the 
published audited financial statements, is set out below.

RESULTS
Year ended 31 December

2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

REVENUE 30,114 34,957 83,504 22,026 29,550
     

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 26,034 161,861 295,567 160,302 125,809
Income tax credit/(expense) (4,186) (32) (20) 29,431 (41)

     
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
 ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY
 HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY 21,848 161,829 295,547 189,733 125,768

     

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
At 31 December

2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

TOTAL ASSETS 2,849,037 3,168,114 2,709,801 2,725,235 2,725,077

TOTAL LIABILITIES (57,620) (91,538) (70,029) (232,740) (222,124)
     

2,791,417 3,076,576 2,639,772 2,492,495 2,502,953
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